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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD


P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	JESSE D. RAMONDINO, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

SPORTSMAN’S WAREHOUSE, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                    and 

HARTFORD INSURANCE COMPANY 

OF THE MIDWEST,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 201108512
AWCB Decision No. 12-0214

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on December 20, 2012


Jesse Ramondino’s (Employee) July 13, 2011, and Alaska Open Imaging’s (Open Imaging) October 21, 2011, workers’ compensation claims were heard on October 30, 2012, in Anchorage, Alaska.  The hearing date was selected on June 13, 2012.  Attorney Chancy Croft appeared and represented Employee.  Attorney Robert Griffin appeared and represented Sportsman’s Warehouse, Inc. (Employer) and its workers’ compensation insurer.  Christie Wierzbicki appeared telephonically, testified and represented Open Imaging.  Employee appeared and testified.  At hearing, the parties stipulated Open Imaging’s claim for its medical bill was dependent upon Employee’s success with his claim, there were no “reasonable or necessary” objections to Open Imaging’s bill, and Open Imaging’s representative could leave the hearing after providing brief testimony about its claim.  The record remained open until November 2, 2012, so the parties could clarify whether weekly compensation rate was an issue for decision.  Neither party advised it was, so compensation rate will not be addressed in this decision.  The panel met to re-deliberate on December 20, 2012, and the record closed on that date.

ISSUES

Employee contends walking on concrete at work, stripping floors, and lifting and moving heavy objects such as ammunition and gun safes caused right hip symptoms.  Employee contends his right hip injury arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer, which employment he contends is the substantial cause of his need for medical treatment and resulting disability, and he seeks an order finding his right hip injury compensable.

Employer contends Employee’s three and one-half month employment cannot be the substantial cause of Employee’s severe, degenerative right hip condition.  Employer contends if this employment period is not the substantial cause of the underlying condition and did not make a permanent change to it, the injury is not compensable. 

1) Did Employee suffer a compensable, right hip injury while employed by Employer?

Employee contends he is disabled because of his work-related injury.  He contends he is entitled to temporary total disability (TTD) benefits as a result of his right hip injury.  He seeks an award of TTD from June 24, 2011, and continuing until medical stability.  He contends his receipt of unemployment insurance does not prevent his receipt of TTD, as he will pay back the unemployment benefits.

Employer contends it is not liable for any benefits under the law because it did not cause or permanently change Employee’s underlying degenerative hip condition.  Alternately, Employer contends Employee collected unemployment insurance benefits during the period for which he requests TTD benefits.  Therefore, it contends by law he cannot receive TTD for this period.  Employer further contends, since it offered physical therapy soon after receiving the second independent medical evaluator’s (SIME) report, and Employee did not promptly obtain the physical therapy, it should not be held liable for TTD between the time Employer offered to pay for physical therapy and the time Employee actually received it.  It seeks an order denying the TTD claim.  

2) Is Employee entitled to TTD benefits?

Employee contends after he tried conservative treatments, his hip pain did not resolve and his attending physicians recommended right, total hip replacement surgery.  He seeks an order requiring Employer to pay for the hip replacement surgery as well as past, outstanding medical expenses and out-of-pocket costs related to his right hip.

Employer contends if this employment period is not the substantial cause of the underlying condition and did not make a permanent change to it, Employer cannot be liable for past medical care or total hip replacement surgery.  It seeks an order denying Employee’s claim for medical care.

3) Is Employee entitled to past medical expenses and an order requiring Employer to pay for right hip replacement surgery?

Employee contends Employer’s medical evaluator (EME) commented on the cause of Employee’s underlying degenerative arthritic hip condition, but never commented on whether his work with Employer aggravated the condition and caused symptoms, which resulted in the need for medical treatment and disability.  Accordingly, Employee contends the EME report does not meet the legal requirements for controverting his claim and he is entitled to a penalty.

4)  Is Employee entitled to a penalty?
Open Imaging contends it provided medical services to Employee and was told the services were rendered in respect to a workers’ compensation claim.  Although Open Imaging does not provide opinions regarding “causation,” it contends it provided services to Employee in good faith and its bill should be paid.

Employee contends Open Imaging’s bill should be paid by Employer as part of Employee’s medical expenses.  He seeks an order directing Employer to pay the bill.

Employer contends it has no objection to the bill and does not question its necessity or reasonableness.  Employer contends Open Imaging’s bill is contingent upon Employee’s success on his claim’s compensability.  It contends as Employee’s claim is not compensable, Open Imaging’s claim is also not compensable.

5) Should Employer be ordered to pay Open Imaging’s bill?

Employee contends his previously raised claim for permanent partial impairment (PPI) is withdrawn because it is not ripe, as he has not yet had recommended surgery and has not been rated.  Employee contends the PPI issue is premature and contends this issue should be deferred until after surgery and after Employee obtains a PPI rating.

Employer contends Employee’s PPI claim is ripe for decision.  It contends as there is no PPI rating, the PPI claim should be denied.

6) Should this decision decide Employee’s PPI claim?

Similarly, Employee contends his previously raised claim for vocational reemployment benefits is withdrawn because it is not ripe, as Employee has not yet had recommended surgery and has not been rated for PPI.  Consequently, as Employee contends the PPI issue is premature, this makes the reemployment issue also premature and contends this issue should be deferred until after surgery and after Employee obtains a PPI rating.

Employer contends Employee’s vocational reemployment claim is ripe for decision.  It contends as there is no PPI rating, the vocational reemployment claim should be denied.

7) Should this decision decide Employee’s vocational rehabilitation claim?

Employee contends Employer resisted his claim and controverted.  As he contends he should prevail on above-referenced issues, Employee contends he is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees, costs, and interest on all benefits awarded.

Employer contends Employee should not prevail on any issues.  It contends no attorney fees, costs, or interest should be awarded.

8) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees, costs, and interest?

FINDINGS OF FACT

Evaluation of the relevant record establishes the following facts and factual conclusions by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) For several years prior to working for Employer, Employee had been on low dosage narcotics for chronic low back pain (Ramondino; see also Progress Note, January 9, 2009).

2) Employee’s low dosage narcotics for low back pain continued through the time of his work-related injury subject of this claim (see, e.g., Progress Notes, December 13, 2010; February 8, 2011; March 8, 2011; April 5, 2011; May 5, 2011).

3) Prior to working for Employer, Employee never had any hip “problems,” diagnoses, disability, or treatment, he had never been taken off work because of his right hip, and his right hip had never impeded any physical activities (Ramondino).

4) Employee’s medical records show no evidence of any prior complaints of hip pain, “problems,” diagnoses, disability, or treatment, and there is no documented medical evidence his right hip had ever impeded any physical activities (record).
5) Employee’s pre-injury medical records, to the extent they commented, all reflected normal pelvis motion and no altered gait (see e.g., Progress Notes, December 23, 2009; January 21, 2010; February 19, 2010; April 20, 2010; May 17, 2010; June 17, 2010; July 15, 2010; August 13, 2010; September 15, 2010; October 12, 2010; November 12, 2010; December 13, 2010; January 10, 2011; February 8, 2011; March 8, 2011).
6) In May 2010, prior to working for Employer, Employee worked briefly for the State of Alaska, Department of Fish & Game as a Fish & Wildlife Technician II, and was on his feet all working day long for about one month.  This job did not “hurt” Employee’s right hip or cause any right hip symptoms (Ramondino).

7) In September 2010, prior to working for Employer, Employee worked for WPX as a courier and was on his feet frequently delivering materials to customers.  This job did not “hurt” Employee’s right hip or cause any right hip symptoms (id.).

8) On January 29, 2011, Employee worked for one day for Employer as an assistant store manager interviewing potential line employees.  Employee had no symptoms in his right hip (id.).

9) At the end of February 2011, Employee returned to work full-time, five days a week, about eight hours per day for Employer.  He worked renovating an old department store to prepare for Employer’s opening.  Employee’s work was “profoundly heavy” as he was pulling up and carrying old carpet, sealing concrete floors over 40,000 square feet, and doing all manner of manual labor including dismantling store fixtures and unloading and stocking merchandise, such as gun safes, weapons, ammunition and other merchandise.  This work required Employee to be on his feet nearly the entire working day and this work continued through the beginning of April 2011 (id.).

10) In early March 2011, Employee’s right hip gradually started hurting.  He had no pain in his left hip but eventually lost normal range-of-motion in his right hip.  Employee’s right hip pain progressed as the intensity of his manual labor for Employer also progressed and continued (id.).

11) On or about April 9, 2011, Employer had its “soft opening,” which meant employees and customers were in the store and it was open for business, but Employer had not yet had its “grand opening” (id.).

12) Later in April 2011, after the soft opening, Employee’s duties changed somewhat.  He was placed in charge of the fishing and hunting department and had to haul gun safes and ammunition off pallets and place them on display.  Employee would frequently use his own strength, hand trucks and any available co-workers to assist loading gun safes into customer’s vehicles.  Gun safes weighed from 400 to over 700 pounds and had to be manually lifted, pushed, and slid into pickup trucks and other vehicles.  Eventually, Employee became gun room manager and regularly moved and lifted pallet loads of guns and ammunition (id.).

13) On May 5, 2011, Employee reported to Jared Wallace, PA-C, he had started a new job four weeks prior, which required him to spend a lot of time standing and walking on concrete.  This work caused Employee’s long-standing chronic back pain to increase.  It prompted him to purchase new shoes (Progress Note, May 5, 2011).

14) On May 7, 2011, Employee, a licensed fishing guide, asked his work manager if he could change his work schedule so he could perform guided fishing services on weekends.  However, Employee never guided any fishermen and his working schedule did not change until after Employee reported the instant injury and his doctor suggested he work part time (Ramondino).

15) On June 6, 2011, Employee reported continuing back pain, with a new diagnosis of “hip pain” (Progress Note, June 6, 2011).

16) June 6, 2011, is the first mention of hip pain in Employee’s medical records (record).

17) Employee’s right hip pain never went away after June 6, 2011.  His symptoms included lost hip range of motion, sharp pain, and constant throbbing, all of which Employee never had before March 2011, in his right hip (Ramondino).

18) On June 11, 2011, Employee’s physician recommend only part time work effective June 13, 2011, “due to the severity of his hip pain” and said the “extended hours on concrete are directly related to the increase in pain he is experiencing” (Wallace letter, June 11, 2011).

19) On June 12, 2011, Employee reported his injury to Employer on Employer’s internal injury report.  Employer never paid Employee any workers’ compensation benefits (Ramondino).

20) On June 15, 2011, Employee’s physician restricted his part-time work to three days a week, seven and one-half hours per day with four days off to recover between shifts (Wallace letter, June 15, 2011).

21) On June 24, 2011, Employee’s physician removed him from work altogether (id.; see also Progress Note, June 24, 2011).

22) On June 29, 2011, Employee’s attending physician released him to return to part time work effective July 9, 2011, with his previous restrictions in place (Medley letter, June 29, 2011).

23) There is no evidence Employer offered Employee light-duty, part-time work after June 24, 2011 (record).

24) On June 29, 2011, Peter Ross, M.D., orthopedic surgeon evaluated Employee and diagnosed right hip osteoarthrosis, “[a]cute exacerbation” (Ross, June 29, 2011).

25) Dr. Ross suggested treatment options including observation, medications, steroid injection, physical therapy and surgical treatment.  Employee opted for a steroid injection and was restricted to modified work duty (Ross, June 29, 2011).

26) On July 1, 2011, Patrick Radecki, M.D., physiatrist evaluated Employee for an employer’s medical evaluation (EME), obtained a history, and performed a physical examination.  Dr. Radecki diagnosed, among other things, severe osteoarthritic changes in the right hip, mild in the left hip.  In response to the question whether Employee’s work with Employer “is the substantial cause” of “that condition, disability, and need for treatment, either as the result of a specific incident or on a cumulative, non-specific basis,” Dr. Radecki said:

Mr. Ramondino’s work at The Sportsman’s Warehouse is not a substantial cause of his osteoarthritic changes in his right hip. . . .  The patient for the first time in 20 years did get a job where he was up and around on his feet for six to eight hours a day, whereas previously, he was not in such a job, except maybe when he was working at times with the dogs at the police department.  It is felt that it is possible that his many hours on his feet, which was somewhat special for him starting in April, since he had not done such activity for several years, this increased activity seems to have essentially brought out his preexisting conditions, making him notice them more significantly.  Certainly, walking on a hard concrete floor does not cause instant severe osteoarthritic change in the right hip. . . .  Preexisting conditions with prolonged activity certainly could be aggravated to the feeling of pain, and that seems to have been the case.

So, the patient’s activities merely contributed only to making his preexisting conditions subjectively more symptomatic but did not cause the conditions.  Additionally, as noted, he has severe osteoarthritic change in the right hip, and he has many complaints there, and he blames that on the concrete floors.  He also walked on the same floors with his left hip, since he has to walk with both legs, and he has no complaints on the left.  So, it seems certainly illogical to blame any condition on his work relative to the right hip when his left hip was totally unaffected by his work. . . .  Thus, his reasoning is nonsensical or illogical.  There was no specific injury (Radecki report, July 1, 2011, at 8).

27) In response to the question whether Dr. Radecki believed Employee’s work activities with Employer “worsened or aggravated” his “condition” to “the point that treatment was necessary,” and if he believed Employee’s “condition” was worsened, was it a “temporary or permanent aggravation or worsening,” Dr. Radecki said:

There is no evidence that his conditions were worsened.  There is no evidence that his conditions were aggravated to a point that treatment was necessary.  For instance, the patient seems to have the same symptoms now whether or not he is working.  When someone has significant osteoarthritic change, it has to become symptomatic sometime, and that seems to be the case here, more likely than not.  It is not felt that his work was such that it would actually cause some sort of substantial aggravation of his preexisting osteoarthritic changes in his . . . hip. . . . (id. at 9).

28) When asked if he believed Employee had reached “medical stability” with regard to any aspect of this injury for which his work activities with Employer were the substantial cause, Dr. Radecki opined:

There is no evidence that his work activities were the substantial cause of an actual injury.  There is no evidence that he has any permanent impairment as a result of a work injury.  He has pain in multiple areas that is entirely explained by preexisting conditions and not explained by his rather routine work (id.).

29) Dr. Radecki did not give an opinion on the date of “medical stability” (id.).

30) Dr. Radecki opined Employee was capable of doing his normal work for Employer notwithstanding his “quite remarkable narrowing of his hip joint on the right” due to preexisting severe osteoarthritic change.  In Dr. Radecki’s opinion: “This may or may not prevent him from walking for a significant amount of time.”  According to Dr. Radecki, regardless of its cause, Employee’s hip would not present any “clear-cut specific restrictions.”  Dr. Radecki opined if Employee says he has significant pain in his right hip, “he likely does,” because of the objective x-ray evidence.  Accordingly, “one would say get a job where you do not have to walk so much.”  Dr. Radecki maintained:

This more likely than not is merely a case of where he grew older, developed osteoarthritic changes, but did not experience the discomforts of those osteoarthritic changes so much until he was in a position where he actually had to be on his feet more hours per day than previously when he was doing a job where he sat more. . . . (Radecki report, July 1, 2011, at 9).

31) Dr. Radecki did not believe Employee needed any more medical treatment for any work “condition,” work caused.  Employee may need to take medication for his right hip, which would be related to preexisting conditions in Dr. Radecki’s opinion.  Dr. Radecki likened Employee’s situation to heart disease.

If you have a bad heart, and you never ran, it never was symptomatic, but if you run and get chest pain, you do not blame the condition on the task of running but on the preexisting heart disease or coronary artery disease.  The cause of the condition is a preexisting condition.  You would not tell the patient to stop exercising as treatment for coronary artery disease.  You try to treat the coronary artery disease.  In this situation, you have osteoarthritic changes, and they are not caused by routine walking, but they are caused by his aging and heredity as substantial causes, and potentially a trauma such as hip injury at the time of ATV accident that was subtle (id. at 10).

32) Dr. Radecki opined the causes of Employee’s preexisting, severe osteoarthritis in his right hip included: the pre-existing condition; aging; heredity; and a potential, subtle trauma from an ATV accident over 20 years ago (id.).

33) Dr. Radecki’s July 1, 2011 EME report did not comment on the substantial cause of Employee’s need for medical treatment for his right hip or the substantial cause of any disability from his right hip (id.; observations).

34) Dr. Radecki reviewed three medical records as part of his EME evaluation and report: Progress Notes, June 11, 2011; June 15, 2011; and June 29, 2011 (id. at 2-3).

35) On July 12, 2011, Employee had a right hip injection (radiology report, July 12, 2011).

36) On July 14, 2011, Employer filed a controversion denying liability for “all benefits.”  The reason given for the controversion was:

Mr. Ramondino was seen for an EIME on July 1, 2011, by Patrick Radecki, M.D.  It is Dr. Radecki’s opinion that Mr. Ramondino is suffering from severe degenerative osteoarthritis in the right hip, with more mild degenerative changes in the low back and right knee.  It is Dr. Radecki’s opinion that the substantial cause of Mr. Ramondino’s disability and need for treatment is the pre-existing and underlying osteoarthritis and not his employment with The Sportsman’s Warehouse.  On the basis of Dr. Radecki’s opinion, we are controverting all benefits (Controversion Notice, July 12, 2011).

37) Dr. Radecki’s July 1, 2011 EME report does not say “the substantial cause of Mr. Ramondino’s disability and need for treatment is the pre-existing and underlying osteoarthritis and not his employment with The Sportsman’s Warehouse” (Radecki report, July 1, 2011; observations).

38) On July 14, 2011, Employee filed a pro se claim seeking permanent total disability (PTD), permanent partial impairment (PPI), medical costs, transportation costs, review of a reemployment benefits decision including “eligibility,” “plan review,” and “employee cooperation,” penalty, interest, and a finding of an unfair or frivolous contribution.  The apparent basis for Employee’s penalty claim and request for a finding of an unfair or frivolous contribution was his allegation the insurer had neither paid nor controverted his right to benefits within 21 days as outlined in material the board sent to Employee (claim, July 13, 2011).

39) Employer gave Employee part-time hours after his right hip began hurting, but his employment still consisted of working on the concrete floor doing the same heavy work, only for fewer hours.  This “light duty” work also caused Employee right hip pain (Ramondino).
40) On or about July 16, 2011, Employee submitted a resignation letter to Employer stating he was resigning because of the nature of his hip injury (id.).

41) At no time after Employee submitted his resignation did Employer advise him it had additional part-time hours available for him (id.).

42) On or about July 20, 2011, Employee began receiving unemployment benefits, and continued to receive them through the date of hearing at varying weekly rates, some as low as $41 (id.).
43) Employee qualified for unemployment benefits because he has a degree and could state he is ready and willing to work, though he has not been able to find a job within his limitations (id.).
44) If Employee is found entitled for benefits under the Act, he intends to reimburse the unemployment division for benefits received (id.).
45) The Workers’ Compensation Division has a letter of agreement with the unemployment division to receive reimbursements in workers’ compensation cases (official notice).
46) Employee has not been employed since June 23, 2011 (Ramondino; facts of the case as discussed above, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
47) Employee applied for and received unemployment benefits because he needed the money to help support his family, could not find a job, and Employer had controverted his right to benefits (id.)
48) It is unlikely Employee personally has sufficient fund to reimburse extended unemployment benefits (experience, judgment, facts of the case as discussed above, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
49) On July 27, 2011, Employee reported to his doctor he had not returned to work for Employer because they had no a work that did not involve standing or walking on hard floors and lifting (Progress Note, July 27, 2011).

50) On August 5, 2011, in response to clarification questions from Employer’s representative, EME Dr. Radecki provided an “addendum” to his July 1, 2011 report.  Dr. Radecki was asked:
Your report makes it very clear that Mr. Ramondino had substantial preexisting conditions, including . . . severe osteoarthritic changes to his right hip and mild changes to his left hip, . . . .  Your report clearly states that Mr. Ramondino’s short period of work at Sportsman’s Warehouse was not a substantial cause of any of these pre-existing conditions.  However, in response to question number 2, you did state that Mr. Ramondino’s work activities made his preexisting conditions subjectively more symptomatic, but did not cause the preexisting condition.  My question to you is: Were the subjectively increased symptoms temporary or permanent?

51) To this question, Dr. Radecki responded:

The patient’s work activities seem to have increased his symptomatology temporarily while he worked.  He no longer works at Sportsman’s Warehouse, so his work no longer subjectively increases symptoms of his preexisting conditions.  Thus, his subjective increase in symptoms relative to Sportsman’s Warehouse ended when his employment at Sportsman’s Warehouse ended (Radecki Addendum, August 5, 2011).

52) In response to the question: “If your answer [to the first question] is temporary, when would the symptomatology return to its baseline, pre-Sportsman’s Warehouse condition?”  Dr. Radecki said:

. . . As I mentioned in the report, his symptoms persisted subjectively after he left Sportsman’s Warehouse [sic] that can merely be related to age and personal factors.  For instance, as I pointed out, degenerative joint changes eventually become symptomatic.  While they become symptomatic, they often remain symptomatic [sic] time to time.  That does not mean, however, that the original notice of the symptoms can be directly and causally related to activities provoking initial notice of symptoms (id.).

53) Dr. Radecki’s August 5, 2011 addendum report attributes “age and personal factors” as causes of Employee’s ongoing right hip “symptoms” but does not state either of these is the substantial cause of his ongoing right hip symptoms (id.; observations).

54) Dr.  Radecki reiterated his previously expressed opinion stating Employee’s employment with Employer was “absolutely not” the substantial cause of any “objective change in his preexisting conditions” (id.).
55) Lastly, when advised Employee resigned from Employer on July 17, 2011, and when asked if Employee’s employment with Employer was the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment after Employee’s resignation, Dr. Radecki opined “based on information in the medical record,” there is “no suggestion that any of” Employee’s “medical treatment after July 17, 2011 is a substantial cause to his employment at Sportsman’s Warehouse.”  He stated:
Mr. Ramondino merely became more active, and with enough activity, preexisting conditions seemed to become symptomatic.  I have not seen him since his resignation from Sportsman’s Warehouse on July 17, 2011, so I do not know what his clinical course has been since leaving there.  However, again, his employment would not be the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment of his multiple diagnoses, as mentioned in the Independent Medical Evaluation.  He had preexisting conditions, as I mentioned as diagnoses on page seven of my report, and none of those can be said to have been objectively worsened by his work at Sportsman’s Warehouse (id. at 2).

56) Dr. Radecki’s July 1, 2011 EME report did not say “his employment would not be the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment of his multiple diagnoses” (Radecki report, July 1, 2011; observations).
57) Dr. Radecki’s August 5, 2011 addendum statement Employee’s “employment would not be the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment of his multiple diagnoses,” would include his right hip (observations).
58) On August 9, 2011, Employer filed an answer to Employee’s claim and stated in the event Employee’s claim was found compensable, a penalty would be due on benefits not paid or controverted in a timely manner.  This admission referred to a penalty on any benefits which might have been owed between the date of injury and the “July 12, 2011” controversion (Answer, August 9, 2011; see also Employer’s hearing statements).

59) On August 15, 2011, attending physician Lavern Davidhizar, D.O., noted Employee never had any prior medical treatment or “issues of concern or complaint” regarding his right hip.  He continued:

It was not until after working at Sportsman’s Warehouse during the initial store set-up, in March 2011, and after store opening in April 2011, [sic] was when he began experiencing pain in his right hip, which radiated to his right knee.  He waited to see if his injury would heal on its own, which it did not.  The pain was exacerbated by working on the bare concrete floors and got progressively worse.

The working conditions were on bare concrete floors that he initially had to sweep and mop and apply concrete conditioner, which was the initial cause of the injury to his right hip.  In June 2011, he reported the injury to his employer and was seen in my office for medical treatment as a work related injury.  Even though the store does have a padded rubber mat behind the gun counter, this area was not his primary area of work at the time.

. . .

Since he has been off work, his right hip condition had improved, due to the fact he is not working extensive hours on bare concrete floors, however, the injury to his right hip is such, that complete recovery is not possible unless surgery is performed.

His present pain was caused by his job at Sportsman’s Warehouse (Davidhizar letter, August 15, 2011).

60) Employee tried conservative treatments including massage and had a hip injection, the latter of which decreased symptoms for about three weeks.  He did not initially try physical therapy, because Dr. Davidhizar recommended against it (Ramondino).

61) Dr. Davidhizar referred Employee to Open Imaging for right hip x-rays.  Open Imaging does not make determinations of causation or fault, but simply provides medical services based upon what it is told by the patient and others.  In this instance, Open Imaging was advised its services pertained to a work-related injury.  It provided services to Employee and wants to be compensated (Wierzbicki).
62) At a September 27, 2011 prehearing conference, Employee with assistance of counsel amended his claim to add attorney’s fees and costs and to withdraw the PTD claim and the request for a finding of an unfair or frivolous controversion.  His reemployment claim was clarified to a request for “Reemployment Benefits” (Prehearing Conference Summary, September 27, 2011).

63) On October 24, 2011, Open Imaging filed its claim for medical costs in the sum of $567 (claim, October 21, 2011).

64) The parties stipulated Open Imaging’s bill’s compensability was contingent upon Employee succeeding on his right hip claim and agreed, in the event Employee prevails, the bill was reasonable, necessary, and totals $567 (parties’ statements at hearing).
65) On November 16, 2011, Employer controverted Employee’s and Open Imaging’s claims, citing as the reason:

Mr. Ramondino was seen for an EIME on July 1, 2011 by Patrick Radecki, M.D.  It was Dr. Radecki’s opinion that Mr. Ramondino is suffering from preexisting severe degenerative osteoarthritis in the right hip and degenerative changes in the low back and right knee.  It is Dr. Radecki’s opinion that the substantial cause of Mr. Ramondino’s disability and need for medical treatment is his preexisting condition and not his employment at Sportsman’s Warehouse (Controversion Notice, November 14, 2011).

66) Dr. Radecki’s July 1, 2011 EME report did not say “the substantial cause of Mr. Ramondino’s disability and need for medical treatment is his preexisting condition and not his employment at Sportsman’s Warehouse,” and his August 5, 2011 addendum did not say “the substantial cause of Mr. Ramondino’s disability” is “his preexisting condition and not his employment at Sportsman’s Warehouse.”  Dr. Radecki opined for the first time on August 5, 2011, Employee’s “employment would not be the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment” for his right hip (Radecki, July 1, 2011; August 5, 2011; observations).

67) On February 28, 2012, Employee saw Judith Silverman, M.D., for a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) (Ramondino). 

68) Dr. Silverman diagnosed, among other things, osteoarthritis in the right hip.  When asked if Employee’s work for Employer caused Employee to become disabled and need treatment he received “at this time, or to this extent or in this way” Dr. Silverman stated:

Yes.  While I agree with Dr. Radecki that the underlying degenerative changes of the right hip were more likely than not present prior to Mr. Ramondino working [sic] Sportsman’s Warehouse in 2011, there is no mention in the medical record of him having any pain, limited mobility, impairment, or disability related to this.  Subjectively, he began to have complaints of pain and, because of pain, decreased function with his work.  Mr. Ramondino reports no other change in his global activity during this time.  He denies other trauma or injuries (Dr. Silverman SIME report, February 28, 2012, page 18).  

69) Dr. Silverman acknowledged July 11, 2011, was the first time Employee was taken off work, i.e., was “disabled,” because of hip pain (id.).

70) “Considering all factors,” Employee’s work on the concrete floors was “the substantial cause” in Employee’s hip becoming symptomatic and in his need for treatment and being removed from work (id.).

71) Employee’s work for Employer was “the substantial cause” in aggravating, accelerating, or combining with Employee’s pre-existing right hip condition to cause a “temporary change” in Employee’s “current disability,” but was “the substantial cause” in “aggravating the underlying right hip degenerative joint disease” (id.).

72) Dr. Silverman opined “symptomatically,” Employee’s right hip osteoarthritis and degenerative joint disease occurred because of his work with Employer, with pain beginning in March 2011, and resulting in his inability to stand and walk without significant pain effective June 12, 2011 (id. at 19).

73) When asked to consider each substantial factor in determining “the substantial cause” of Employee’s “conditions and complaints” with respect his right hip, Dr. Silverman stated:

Mr. Ramondino had underlying degenerative joint disease or osteoarthritis of the right hip.  These changes occur gradually and over time.  The natural history for many people is that a degenerative joint can become symptomatic, and then, after an episode of increased symptomatology, sometimes the pain can resolves [sic]; other times, the pain will continue to wax and wane.  This degenerative process is progressive.

Mr. Ramondino’s right hip pain became symptomatic concurrent with his new employment, which included standing and walking.  With this, he had a significant exacerbation of pain.  He reports minimal benefit with corticosteroid injection, although the medical record suggests potentially longer benefit than just the week and a half, per Mr. Ramondino’s report.  Despite being off work, Mr. Ramondino continues to have pain in the right hip, although per his report he does feel that he is 50% improved compared to June 2011, when he last worked.  Concurrent with this, however, he also is taking a higher dose of opiate medication to assist with pain control.  I do feel that the degenerative change in the right hip became symptomatic concurrent with his standing and walking and therefore is the substantial cause of his complaints (id. at 19-20).

74) Considering each substantial factor, the substantial cause of Employee’s need for medical treatment is his underlying degenerative hip joint disease, “which became symptomatic with standing and walking” (id. at 20).

75) Employee’s June 12, 2011 injury aggravated, accelerated, or combined with his pre-existing right hip condition to produce the need for medical treatment or disability (id.).

76) Employee’s injury with Employer caused a “temporary change” in the pre-existing “pain complaints,” with subjective changes in pain during the course of his work, but without objective changes in the course of Employee’s work (id.).

77) Employee’s need for right hip medical treatment is related to subjective pain complaints related to osteoarthritis or degenerative joint disease of his right hip.  As Employee did not have pain complaints in this area before, there is no medical documentation of subjective or objective problems with the right hip joint prior to his work for Employer (id.).

78) Employee became disabled because of pain related to underlying degenerative joint disease and osteoarthritis of the right hip, which became more symptomatic with the degree of standing and walking he did for his work for Employer (id. at 21).

79) Employee was not medically stable as of February 28, 2012, because further treatment including a total hip replacement with adequate time for rehabilitation thereafter will allow significant improvement in his right hip pain and function, and ultimately may allow him to return to work (id.).

80) Employee is limited in standing, walking and lifting (id.).

81) Dr. Silverman suggested a course of physical therapy in lieu of surgery to see how he would perform.  If physical therapy proved ineffective, “consideration of total hip replacement could be made” (id.).

82) Employee’s medical treatment for his right hip as of Dr. Silverman’s SIME had been reasonable, necessary, and within the realm of medically accepted options.  If physical therapy was unsuccessful, “consideration of total hip replacement would be medically appropriate” (id. at 22).

83) Dr. Silverman’s deposition is consistent with her written report and clarifies it (observations).  She explained:

A. His complaint was that of pain in the right hip that radiated down the right anterior thigh.  His . . . examination showed evidence of restricted range of motion in the right hip.  All of that is consistent with findings consistent with the osteoarthritis in the right hip.

And so my thought and my opinion is that he had underlying degenerative changes that became symptomatic with the work demands of moving these cabinets, stripping the floor, and the manual labor that he was initially doing (Silverman deposition, September 13, 2012, at 14).

. . .

Q. . . . but it’s not your opinion that four months of employment at Sportsman’s Warehouse caused the degenerative joint in Mr. Ramondino right hip when he was 55 years old?

A. No.  It’s my opinion that the underlying degenerative changes that were present became symptomatic because of the demands put on him during the four months that he was working at the Sportsman’s Warehouse.  That it was the -- kind of for lack of a better term, the tipping point.

Q. His employment may have aggravated the preexisting condition; is that what you’re saying?

A. Correct.

Q. But didn’t cause it?  

A. Correct (id. at 18).

. . .

A. But it’s also not uncommon for people to have both degenerative joint disease in the hip and degenerative spine disease, and then when -- and in this case, if the hip becomes symptomatic, that can then change his walking pattern, and that, also, then, have some effect on the spine, and vice versa.

I think that he has both, one being longstanding in terms of symptomatology, but that the hip condition became more symptomatic -- or became symptomatic with his work, has improved, but hasn’t fully recovered (id. at 23). 

. . . 

So I think there is room for him to have more -- more complete treatment and, then, hopefully, come back to being pain-free in the hip area. 

. . .

A. And that’s what I mean by ‘temporary’; that he’s had -- in my opinion, he hasn’t had complete treatment (id. at 23-24).  

84) The “substantial factors” in Employee’s right hip include his pre-existing right hip degenerative joint disease, the natural progression of degenerative joint disease, and his employment with Employer (id. at 25-26).  In weighing the substantial factors, Dr. Silverman concluded:

From the description Mr. Ramondino gave me of the work that he did with the refurbishing of this building, in the absence of doing that type of work -- which I envision to be bending, lifting, leaning forward, scraping, washing, sealing concrete floors.

In the absence of doing that type of activity, I don’t know that his hip would have become symptomatic at the beginning of the year 2011. . . .  

Well.  March -- sorry.  March.  Sorry.  Right.  Not January, when he had one weekend, but March, April May; during that time.  If he had not been doing those activities, we don’t know if or when he would have become symptomatic from his hip.  But he became symptomatic concurrent with doing those tasks.

And since we know people can have imaging studies that show a lot of wear and tear, but be asymptomatic, we actually can’t give the specific event for many things that all of a sudden start becoming symptomatic (id. at 26-27).

85) If Employee refused a course of physical therapy, in Dr. Silverman’s initial opinion Employee would have been medically stable by September or October 2011 (id. at 28-29).

86) In Dr. Silverman’s initial opinion, Employee’s right hip in its current condition would not have a permanent partial impairment rating under the sixth edition of the American Medical Association Guides to The Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (Guides) because, while the Guides provide a rating for a degenerative joint, it is unlikely there was any objective change in joint space narrowing while he was employed by Employer (id. at 31).

87) On the other hand, there is no documentation in the medical records of Employee’s hip condition prior to his work with Employer.  Therefore, as the only evidence of his hip was the June 8, 2011 x-ray, Employee would under the Guides have “some” PPI rating (id.).

88) Employee’s right hip “problem” includes his symptoms, pain, restricted range of motion and possible weakness.  The need for treatment of the symptoms is all “the work that he was doing at Sportsman’s Warehouse.”  The “cause of his inability to continue working at Sportsman’s Warehouse were those symptoms” (id. at 33-34).

89) The bony and cartilage changes were present in Employee’s right hip before his employment with Employer.  And “then if he strained that joint more by . . . the work that he was doing on these cabinets and the floor, that . . . would set off the . . . painful process.  That’s my sense of what happened here” (id. at 36).

90) Employee’s long-term use of narcotics is a contraindication for fully successful hip replacement surgery (id. at 41).

91) Osteopathic manual therapy and manipulations are medically accepted options for Employee’s right hip, but Dr. Silverman would not do them (id. at 41-42).

92) Given Dr. Davidhizar’s contrary opinion that physical therapy would only aggravate Employee’s right hip pain, Employee’s decision to not attend physical therapy as Dr. Silverman recommended would be “simply following his attending doctor’s advice” (id. at 43).

93) Not attempting physical therapy, and proceeding directly to right hip replacement surgery, “is medically acceptable” but in Dr. Silverman’s opinion not the best decision (id.).

94) Employee’s hemorrhoids can be a result of narcotic medication he takes if he is constipated; the drugs can cause constipation (id. at 47).

95) Employee was taking approximately half the prescribed narcotic dosage as of September 13, 2012, as he was when Dr. Silverman saw him.  She opined a short course of six to eight sessions of physical therapy is worth trying to see if he can “feel better” (id. at 47-48).

96) Dr. Silverman disagreed with Dr. Radecki’s opinion about the June 8, 2011 x-ray results and said the severe arthritic changes in the right hip versus only a mild condition in the left hip indicates the work only aggravated or caused a flare-up of his right hip and did not necessarily make both hips symptomatic (id. at 54).

97) There is room for Employee to get better with physical therapy and, if physical therapy proved “inadequate,” with joint replacement (id. at 55-56).

98) Employee has not been and is not medically stable (id.; experience, judgment, observations, unique facts of the case as discussed above, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
99) Dr. Silverman told Employee during the SIME appointment she suggested he try physical therapy (Ramondino).

100) On March 26, 2012, Employer sent a letter to Employee’s counsel advising it was willing to pay for the physical therapy Dr. Silverman recommended (parties’ hearing stipulation).

101) On April 9, 2012, Employee discussed physical therapy with Dr. Davidhizar, who advised against it (Ramondino).

102) On April 9, 2012, Dr. Davidhizar stated, in respect to trying physical therapy, “I think this will only aggravate his pain.  Any increase in activity has always caused more pain for him” (Progress Note, April 9, 2012).

103) At some point between his February 28, 2012 visit with SIME Dr. Silverman, and his April 9, 2012 appointment with Dr. Davidhizar, Employee was advised through his attorney’s office that Employer was willing to pay for the recommended physical therapy (Ramondino).

104) Had Dr. Davidhizar agreed with Dr. Silverman’s physical therapy recommendation, Employee would have followed Dr. Silverman’s recommendations and tried physical therapy immediately (id.).  
105) Employee’s decision to follow his attending doctor’s advice and not attempt physical therapy was reasonable under the circumstances of this case (experience, judgment, observations, unique facts of the case as discussed above, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
106) At a June 13, 2012 prehearing conference, Employee clarified his claim to include temporary total disability (TTD), PPI, medical costs, presentation costs, reemployment benefits, penalty and interest, and attorney’s fees and costs (Prehearing Conference Summary, June 13, 2012).

107) At the June 13, 2012 prehearing conference, the parties agreed: “If the right hip replacement is compensable, than [sic] benefits should follow” (id.).

108) By September 2012, Employee had changed his mind about trying physical therapy because the SIME had recommended it, and he felt it would be a good idea to give it a try to “see if it would work,” because he wanted to avoid hip surgery if possible (Ramondino).

109) Beginning in or about September 2012, Employee attended physical therapy and participated as directed with Sadie Schroeder, PT, followed all therapy recommendations, and performed all exercises.  Because of pain, Employee was not able to meet all of the physical therapist’s goals, and failed to meet most of them.  Physical therapy did not decrease Employee’s subjective pain complaints and did not increase his hip strength (id.; see also, Frontier Therapy-Soldotna chart notes, September 18, 2012; Employee’s hearing exhibit no. 1; October 8, 2012).
110) Employee’s subsequent decision to follow the SIME doctor’s advice and attempt physical therapy was reasonable under the circumstances of this case (experience, judgment, observations, unique facts of the case as discussed above, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
111) After attempting physical therapy, Employee saw Dr. Ross, orthopedic surgeon, whom he had seen in 2011.  Dr. Ross recommended a right, total hip replacement.  Hip replacement surgery is not something Employee “wants,” but something he “needs” (Ramondino).
112) Dr. Ross and Dr. Davidhizar recommended Employee have a total right hip placement.  Dr. Ross referred Employee to Dr. Kavanaugh, who has greater experience performing these operations (id.).
113) As of the time of hearing, Employee had an appointment scheduled to see Dr. Kavanaugh.  If Dr. Kavanaugh concurred in the hip replacement recommendation, it was Employee’s intent to obtain the surgical treatment as recommended (id.).  
114) Employee told EME Radecki he had a prior history of right knee and low back symptoms (id.).

115) Employee is credible (experience, judgment, observations, facts of the case as discussed above, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
116) Dr. Radecki is not credible, as discussed in the analysis (id.).
117) The hearing record remained open until November 2, 2012, so Employer could determine if it had a dispute with Employee’s recommended compensation rate.  If it had a dispute, Employer was directed to file a document with the board so stating (record).

118) Employer did not file a document addressing compensation rate post-hearing and there is no current dispute over Employee’s compensation rate (id.).

119) Employee contended at hearing his permanent partial impairment claim was “withdrawn” because there had been no rating.  Employer contended Dr. Silverman opined Employee had a zero impairment rating, and because this was the only evidence before the board, Employee’s PPI claim was ripe for decision and should be decided (parties’ hearing statements).

120) Employee contended at hearing his request for a vocational reemployment eligibility evaluation was withdrawn and not ripe decision because the PPI rating had not yet occurred.  Employer contended at hearing the reemployment benefits claim was ripe for decision, and based upon Dr. Silverman’s SIME report, which it interpreted as saying Employee had no work-related PPI, the vocational reemployment benefits eligibility issue should be decided (parties’ hearing statements).

121) Employee amended his claim to withdraw PPI and vocational reemployment benefits until such time as Employee has right hip surgery and is rated for PPI (observations).

122) Employee’s penalty request is based upon Dr. Radecki’s EME reports, which Employee contends give an opinion as to the cause of Employee’s right hip arthritis “condition,” but does not give an opinion overcoming the presumption as to the injury increasing Employee’s subjective, right hip symptoms.  Furthermore, because Dr. Radecki’s EME report, upon which Employer relied to controvert, states the employment with Employer caused the hip to become symptomatic, Employee contends the EME report supports his claim and does not form a valid basis to controvert under Alaska Supreme Court precedent (Employee’s hearing statements).

123) Employer had no objection to Frontier Therapy’s medical record, to which Employee referred in his testimony, being admitted into evidence as Employee’s hearing exhibit 1 (Employer’s hearing statements).

124) Employee documented the following unpaid medical bills related to his right hip:

	Family Medical Clinic
	$5310.00

	Kenai Peninsula Orthopedics
	$247.00

	Kenai Peninsula Orthopedics
	$152.00

	Northstar Medical Imaging
	$235.00

	Central Peninsula Hospital
	$826.93

	Total Unpaid Medical Expenses
	$6,770.93


125) Employee documented the following out of pocket expenses related to his hip:

	Soldotna Pharmacy
	$70.00

	Soldotna Professional Pharmacy
	$453.00

	Soldotna Professional Pharmacy
	$125.00

	Mileage 842 at .50 mile
	$437.84

	Total out of Pocket
	$1,085.84


126) If Employee prevails on the compensability of his right hip injury, Employer has no objection to the reasonableness, necessity, or work-relatedness of any of Employee’s past incurred medical bills, or out-of-pocket expenses, but reserves its right to have the bills audited under the medical fee schedule (Employer’s hearing statements).

127) On October 30, 2012, Employee submitted a supplemental fee and cost affidavit summarizing his total attorney and paralegal fees at $28,644.50 and litigation costs at $1,851.60 (Supplemental Affidavit Fees and Costs, October 30, 2012).

128) Employee’s attorney’s fees ranged from $350 per hour to $400 per hour and his paralegal fees from $150 per hour to $160 per hour (id.).

129) Employer raised no objections to Employee’s hourly rates, total fees, or total costs (record).

130) Employee’s attorney’s and his paralegal’s fee rates are reasonable and consistent with those charged by other attorneys and paralegals with similar experience representing injured workers in workers’ compensation claims (experience, judgment, observations, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001. Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

1) this chapter be interpreted . . . to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to . . . employers. . . .

Under the Act, coverage is established by work connection, and the test of work connection is, if accidental injury is connected with any of incidents of one’s employment, then the injury both would “arise out of” and be “in the course of” employment.  The “arising out of” and the “in the course of” tests should not be kept in separate compartments but should be merged into a single concept of “work connection.”  Northern Corp. v. Saari, 409 P.2d 845 (Alaska 1966).  

AS 23.30.005. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board.
. . .

(h) The department shall adopt rules . . . and shall adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter. . . .  Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).  A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the Employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  Id. at 534.  The board’s finding reasonable persons would find employment was “a cause” of the claimant’s disability “and impose liability” is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  The court has “no reason for supposing, however, that the members of the Board who found it so are either irrational or arbitrary.”  The court further noted “the fact that some reasonable persons may disagree with a subjective conclusion does not necessarily make that conclusion unreasonable and we cannot say that it is so in this case.”  Id.

AS 23.30.010.  Coverage.  Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability . . . or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability . . . or the employee’s need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment.  To establish a presumption under AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment.  A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the . . . disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment.  When determining whether or not the . . . disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment.  Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability . . . or need for medical treatment. . . . 

AS 23.30.041. Rehabilitation and reemployment of injured workers.  (a) The director shall select and employ a reemployment benefits administrator.  

. . .

(c) An employee and an employer may stipulate to the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits at any time.  If an employee suffers a compensable injury and, as a result of the injury, the employee is totally unable, for 45 consecutive days, to return to the employee’s employment at the time of injury, the administrator shall notify the employee of the employee’s rights under this section within 14 days after the 45th day.  If the employee is totally unable to return to the employee’s employment for 60 consecutive days as a result of the injury, the employee or employer may request an eligibility evaluation.  The administrator may approve the request if the employee’s injury may permanently preclude the employee’s return to the employee’s occupation at the time of the injury.  If the employee is totally unable to return to the employee’s employment at the time of the injury for 90 consecutive days as a result of the injury, the administrator shall, without a request, order an eligibility evaluation unless a stipulation of eligibility was submitted. . . . 

(d) Within 30 days after the referral by the administrator, the rehabilitation specialist shall perform the eligibility evaluation and issue a report of findings.  The administrator may grant up to an additional 30 days for performance of the eligibility evaluation upon notification of unusual and extenuating circumstances and the rehabilitation specialist’s request.  Within 14 days after receipt of the report from the rehabilitation specialist, the administrator shall notify the parties of the employee’s eligibility for reemployment preparation benefits. . . . 

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

An employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessary.”  Bockness v. Brown Jug, Inc., 980 P.2d 462, 466 (Alaska 1999).  Thus, when the board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is indisputably work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”  Philip Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 730 (Alaska 1999).  Accordingly, “we hold that a claim for medical treatment is to be reviewed according to the date the treatment was sought and the claim was filed with the Board.  Because Hibdon’s claim was filed within two years of the date of injury, we must determine whether the treatment she sought was reasonable and necessary.”  Id. at 731.  Hibdon further stated:

According to Professor Larson’s treatise on workers’ compensation, where a claimant receives conflicting medical advice, the claimant may choose to follow his or her own doctor’s advice, so long as the choice of treatment is reasonable (footnote omitted).  The question of reasonableness is ‘a complex fact judgment involving a multitude of variables’ (footnote omitted).  However, where the claimant presents credible, competent evidence from his or her treating physician that the treatment undergone or sought is reasonably effective and necessary for the process of recovery, and the evidence is corroborated by other medical experts, and the treatment falls within the realm of medically accepted options, it is generally considered reasonable.  If the employee makes this showing, the employer is faced with a heavy burden -- the employer must demonstrate to the Board that the treatment is neither reasonable and necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical options under the particular facts.  It is not the Board’s function to choose between reasonable, yet competing, medically acceptable treatments.  Rather, the Board must determine whether the actual treatment sought by the injured employee is reasonable (id. at 732).

In Hibdon, the employer argued there was no “current” medical recommendation for surgery.  The court noted though the attending physician stated he would perform additional tests before renewing his surgical recommendation, if the patient’s pain persisted and testing showed her condition was the same, he would still recommend the same surgical procedure.  Id. at 732-33.  The court furthered noted some of the delay in obtaining surgery was inherent in the board’s adjudication process.  Administrative delay placed the injured worker in a “catch-22” where passage of time before hearing rendered “a current recommendation dated,” while the board required a current surgical recommendation for the claimant to succeed at hearing.  Id. at 733.  Accordingly, even if some doctors’ opined the injured worker was “unfit” for the procedure, which was rife with risks: “Choices between reasonable medical options and the risks entailed should be left to the patient and his or her physician.”  Id.  

Because Hibdon presented credible, corroborated evidence from her treating physician that the treatment she sought was reasonable and necessary for her recovery, and the treatment fell within the realm of medically accepted options, she proved her claim by a preponderance of the evidence (id.).

An injured worker is also entitled to a prospective determination of whether his injury is compensable, regardless of any pending claim for medical care or other benefits.  Summers v. Korobkin Construction, 814 P.2d 1369 (Alaska 1991).

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by the AS 23.30.120(a) presumption of compensability.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-65 (Alaska 1991).  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.  Sokolowski v. Best Western Golden Lion, 813 P.2d 286, 292 (Alaska 1991).  

The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the claim and his employment.  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence (Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)) establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability or other claim for benefits and the employment (Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316), or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability (Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991)).  The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.  Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).

Second, Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, AWCAC Decision No. 150 (March 25, 2011) stated, for an injury occurring after November 7, 2005, an employer may rebut the presumption with substantial evidence showing “the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of employment.”  Id. at 6.  For post-November 7, 2005 injuries, “the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability . . . or need for medical treatment” and if the employer “can present substantial evidence that demonstrates that a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing [the disability or need for medical treatment], etc., the presumption is rebutted.”  Id. at 7.  Because the board considers the employer’s evidence by itself and does not weigh the employee’s evidence against the employer’s rebuttal evidence, credibility is not examined at this point.  Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-70.  Runstrom further stated to rebut the presumption an employer need only demonstrate work is not the substantial cause and does not need to rule out employment as the substantial cause for injuries occurring after November 7, 2005.  Runstrom, AWCAC Decision No. 150 at 7.  The “substantial evidence” standard is used in determining whether Employer rebutted the §120 presumption.  Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.  “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Id.  

Third, if the employer successfully rebuts the presumption, it drops out and the employee must prove all elements of her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts “are probably true.”  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  

Occasionally, the question whether or not an employer has rebutted the presumption arises.  In Wollaston v. Schroeder Cutting, Inc., 42 P.3d 1065 (Alaska 2002), the Alaska Supreme Court stated under AS 23.30.120(a) a claim is presumed to be compensable.  The burden is on the employer to prove “noncompensability” through substantial evidence.  The court said:

We held in Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board that an employer can overcome the presumption of compensability ‘by presenting substantial evidence that either (1) provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that employment was a factor in causing the disability’ (footnote omitted).  We added in Big K Grocery v. Gibson that an employer may ‘rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability’ (footnote omitted) (id. at 1067).

In Wollaston, the physician’s testimony upon which the board relied did not satisfy any of these formulations.  The physician did not “exclude” the work-related injury as a cause of Mr. Wollaston’s continuing problems.  He said nothing directly eliminating any reasonable possibility the work-related injury had consequences beyond a certain date.  Finally, the doctor did not testify Mr. Wollaston’s disability was probably not attributable in any substantial way to the work-related injury (footnote omitted).  Id. at 1067-68.  The court concluded:

The presumption of compensability therefore has not been rebutted and thus the statutory presumption that Wollaston’s claim is covered controls.  It follows that insofar as it terminated compensation . . . the decision of the board must be reversed (id. at 1068-69).

Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976 (Alaska 1991) addressed “neutral” evidence offered to rebut the raised presumption and said: “When the evidence offered to rebut the claim is uncertain, the presumption operates to uphold the compensability of the claim.”  Id. at 979.
In Rivera v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 247 P.3d 957 (Alaska 2011), the Alaska Supreme Court distinguished Wollaston, in which the employer’s doctor gave an opinion “predictive based on a fixed past perspective,” from Ms. Rivera’s case in which two physicians saw the patient on several occasions and opined Ms. Rivera had pain but “attributed her chronic pain to her degenerative conditions rather than her work-related injuries” (Rivera, 247 P.3d at 965, n. 33).
In DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90 (Alaska 2000), the Alaska Supreme Court addressed Board findings that concluded a doctor’s report constituted affirmative evidence Ms. DeYonge’s condition was not “aggravated or accelerated by her work.”  Id. at 96.  In his report, a physician suggested Ms. DeYonge’s arthritic condition had “probably been developing slowly for years and . . . was not specifically caused by her job.”  Id.  He also suggested “any stressful use of her knees would have increased her symptoms.”  Id.  These statements tend to show a non-work-related factor, “DeYonge’s genetic predisposition for arthritis and its natural degenerative progression,” caused DeYonge’s “underlying impairment.”  Id.  The board found:

We find Dr. Frost states that the employee may have an increase in symptoms.  We do not find any evidence to support a conclusion that an increase in symptoms is the equivalent of a permanent aggravation or acceleration of the pre-existing condition.  We find that the employee temporarily experienced an increase in her symptoms, i.e., discomfort while working.  In summary, we find no acceleration of the employee’s pre-existing degenerative condition and we find no permanent worsening of her knee condition.  We find no indication of work-related disability from this discomfort.  We conclude the employee was not disabled by her work with the employer; therefore we must deny and dismiss her claims for benefits (emphasis in original) (id. at 97).


The DeYonge court, on the other hand, said:

But we have established ‘that a preexisting . . . infirmity does not disqualify a claim under the work-connection requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the . . . infirmity to produce the . . . disability for which compensation is sought’ (footnote omitted).  Dr. Frost’s explanation does not exclude DeYonge’s employment as a substantial factor in the aggravation of her arthritis.  On the contrary, Dr. Frost believed that DeYonge’s employment with NANA/Marriott did worsen her symptoms: ‘Certainly the type of duties which she performed as a housekeeper . . . would have been a substantial factor in increasing her symptoms.’ (id.).

DeYonge cited Hester v. Public Employees’ Retirement Board, 817 P.2d 472, 476 n. 7 (Alaska 1991) for the notion the court explicitly declined “to differentiate between the aggravation of symptoms and the aggravation of an underlying condition in the context of a claim for occupational disability benefits” (DeYonge, 1 P.3d at 96).  DeYonge further noted although Hester arose under occupational disability statutes rather than the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act, its stated principle, “worsened symptoms may be compensable,” is “equally persuasive in the context of workers’ compensation” (id.).

Thus, for an employee to establish an aggravation claim under workers’ compensation law, the employment need only have been ‘a substantial factor in bringing about the disability’ (footnote omitted).  Hester suggests that when a job worsens an employee’s symptoms such that she can no longer perform her job functions, that constitutes an ‘aggravation’ -- even when the job does not actually worsen the underlying condition (footnote omitted) (id.). 

Based on Hester, it was error for the Board to conclude that Dr. Frost’s opinion rebutted the presumption of compensability (id. at 96-97).

The court held the board erred by focusing on whether Ms. DeYonge suffered ‘a permanent aggravation or acceleration’ and a ‘permanent worsening’ of her knee condition, because she had not brought a claim for “permanent total disability.”  Ms. DeYonge had only brought claims for medical benefits and TTD.  With respect to both of these claims, the court only requires “the employment cause a temporary increase in symptoms aggravating the disability.”  Id. at 97.  DeYonge held because the board failed to recognize the Hester principle “it erred in concluding that NANA/Marriott rebutted the presumption of compensability through Dr. Frost’s report.”  Id. The court concluded Ms. DeYonge was “entitled to TTD for the period during which she suffered debilitating work-related symptoms.”  Id. at 98.


AS 23.30.122. Credibility of witnesses. The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney fees.  (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . . 


(b) If an employer . . . otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Subsection 145(a) authorizes attorney’s fees as a percentage of the amount of benefits awarded to an employee when an employer controverts a claim.  An award under §145(a) may include continuing fees on future benefits.  By contrast, §145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employer delays or “otherwise resists” payment of compensation and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes his claim.  Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 
160 P.3d 146, 150 (Alaska 2007).  Attorney’s fees in workers’ compensation cases should be fully compensatory and reasonable so injured workers have competent counsel available to them. Cortay v. Silver Bay Logging, 787 P.2d 103, 108 (Alaska 1990).

AS 23.30.155.  Payment of compensation.  (a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer.  To controvert a claim, the employer must file a notice, on a form prescribed by the director, stating

(1) that the right of the employee to compensation is controverted;

(2) the name of the employee;

(3) the name of the employer;

(4) the date of the alleged injury or death; and

(5) the type of compensation and all grounds upon which the right to compensation is controverted.

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid.  Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days, except where the board determines that payment in installments should be made monthly or at some other period.

. . .

(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation, the employer shall file with the division and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death. . . .

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of the installment.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.  The additional amount shall be paid directly to the recipient to whom the unpaid installment was to be paid. . . .

. . .

(o) The director shall promptly notify the division of insurance if the board determines that the employer’s insurer has frivolously or unfairly controverted compensation due under this chapter.  After receiving notice from the director, the division of insurance shall determine if the insurer has committed an unfair claim settlement practice under AS 21.36.125.

(p) An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due. Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in 
AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due. . . .

In Harp v. ARCO Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1992), the Alaska Supreme Court addressed a Board decision denying a penalty under AS 23.30.155(e).  Ms. Harp had argued a penalty was appropriate because the employer had controverted her claim in “bad faith.”  Id. at 353.  Following surgery for thoracic outlet syndrome, Ms. Harp, as part of her job as a security specialist participated in a cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) class during which she was required to use both arms to compress a mannequin’s chest cavity.  She experienced pain in her right shoulder the day after the class.  The pain progressed and Ms. Harp stopped working three weeks after the CPR class.  Her employer paid Ms. Harp TTD benefits for 10 months until controverting payment of any future benefits and alleging an overpayment.  The employer’s controversion notice stated as reasons to deny Ms. Harp’s claim that she had provided “no medical verification of ongoing disability” and because the work incident with the mannequin was only a “temporary aggravation of long-standing pre-existing non-work related cervical problems.”  The board’s decision relied upon the treating physician’s and EME’s opinions.  Id.
The treating physician testified he removed portions of Ms. Harp’s scalene muscles during her June 1987 thoracic outlet surgery.  After the surgery, he prescribed medication for pain.  Ms. Harp called him a few days after the operation and told him her thoracic outlet syndrome symptoms had totally subsided.  He returned her to work the following week with restrictions on reaching, pulling, pushing, and carrying.  On August 11, 1987, Ms. Harp called her doctor to report the CPR incident and the recurrence of neck and shoulder pain and tingling in her fingers.  Ms. Harp’s doctor testified the CPR incident could have caused Ms. Harp some permanent damage, but she could return to work after the CPR incident with the same work restrictions.  Id.

The EME testified “compelling evidence” supported the thoracic outlet syndrome diagnosis, and Ms. Harp was completely disabled from meaningful work.  He disagreed with the treating physician’s conclusion the CPR class was to blame.  If the CPR training had resulted in damage to the surgical site, he stated, Ms. Harp would have noticed symptoms immediately rather than one or two days later.  Unaware the attending surgeon had severed Ms. Harp’s scalene muscles, rendering reattachment unlikely, the EME concluded from the surgeon’s operative notes that Ms. Harp’s condition was attributable to a “natural reattachment” of scalene muscles to brachial plexus nerves.  He opined this resulted in recurring symptoms, and the CPR conceivably caused a muscle spasm which caused the scalene muscle reattachment to become evident through thoracic outlet syndrome symptoms, but the CPR activity itself “probably had no meaningful relationship” to Ms. Harp’s current condition.  The EME also testified Ms. Harp’s prescriptions for pain-killing medication were inconsistent with the treating doctor’s opinion Ms. Harp was asymptomatic after the surgery.  Id.

In its decision, the board ordered payment of past, and reinstatement of future, TTD benefits because the CPR had aggravated the employee’s pre-existing thoracic outlet syndrome condition, but refused to order a penalty, holding the employer’s reliance upon the EME report was a sufficient basis for the controversion.  The Harp court stated: “This conclusion was erroneous, for Dr. Brantigan did not examine Harp until November 1988, several months after the controversion.”  Id.  The superior court remanded, the board reconsidered its original decision and conceded it had erred in concluding the employer had controverted the claim in reliance on the EME report.  Nevertheless, the board ruled a penalty was still inappropriate because the employee’s failure to provide medical verification of a continuing disability is a valid basis for controverting.  The board did not actually examine whether the employer acted in “good faith” or “bad faith” but did not require a penalty only because it found Ms. Harp’s failure to provide medical verification of continuing disability was a valid basis for her employer denying her claim.  Id. at 355; n. 4.  


On appeal to the Alaska Supreme Court, Ms. Harp argued the employer had no “valid reason” to controvert her claim to TTD benefits and therefore should be assessed a penalty under 
AS 23.30.155(e).  The employer argued its stated reasons for controverting the claim evince its good faith and therefore it should not be penalized.  Id. at 357-58.  Harp noted the Act does not state whether a controversion notice, which is timely filed, can be ineffective to prevent a penalty.  Id. at 358.  Harp stated: “A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty.”  The court then cited extensively from Stafford v.  Westchester Fire Insurance Co. of New York, Inc., 526 P.2d 37 (Alaska 1974), which states:

Penalty provisions are provided for in some states as a deterrent against delays in compensation payments (footnote omitted).  Generally, in deciding whether or not a penalty should be imposed, the issue of good faith arises.  In circumstances where there is reliance by the insurer on responsible medical opinion or conflicting medical testimony, invocation of penalty provisions is improper (footnote omitted).  However, when nonpayment results from bad faith reliance on counsel’s advice, (footnote omitted) or mistake of law, (footnote omitted) the penalty is imposed.  The cases do not discuss the assessment of penalties in terms of negligent versus intentional misconduct, but it appears that in either case the injured employee should be entitled to imposition of the statutory penalty, if bad faith is shown.

AS 23.30.155 does not draw a distinction between wilful and negligent failure to make compensation payments, and thus either type of failure should come within its ambit.  Stafford could, therefore, recover for wilful and intentional misconduct by Westchester in failing to make payments, pursuant to the penalty provided for in AS 23.30.155.

. . .

We believe that AS 23.30.155 was envisioned by Alaska’s legislature to cover situations where the employer or carrier negligently, or wilfully, failed to make timely compensation payments. . . . (Id. at 42-44).

Harp also stated: “The evidence which the employer possessed at the time of controversion was, at best, neutral evidence that Harp was not entitled to benefits.”  Id. at 358.  The employer’s first stated reason for denying the claim was not supported by law, as the employee had no legal obligation to prove continuing disability once disabled.  Id.  As to the second proffered reason to controvert the claim, Harp held the employer possessed “insufficient evidence” Ms. Harp’s disability was not work-related.  Id.  Most notably, Harp said:
The employer points out that when Dr. Berkeley examined Harp in December 1987, he was ‘at a loss to understand what [was] going on and why she had recurrent symptoms.’  This statement alone would not constitute substantial evidence that Harp is not entitled to benefits.  Furthermore, it appears from the context of the statement that Dr. Berkeley was referring to the specific internal source of her pain, not to the external event which had aggravated her pain (id. at 358-59).

Harp concluded:

Because neither reason given for the controversion was supported by sufficient evidence to warrant a Board decision that Harp is not entitled to benefits, the controversion was made in bad faith and was therefore invalid.  A penalty is therefore required by former AS 23.30.155(e).


In Irby v. Fairbanks Gold Mining, Inc., 203 P.2d 1138 (Alaska 2009), the Alaska Supreme Court cited Harp and said an employer’s controversion based upon colorable, but not implausible legal arguments based in part on undisputed facts was not a bad faith controversion.  Id. at 1147.  Since the employer’s controversion was based upon legal defenses, had the employee’s representative not provided evidence to justify their late filed death claim, these defenses could have resulted in the board denying the claim.  Thus, the board correctly denied a penalty.  Id.  In respect to controversion notices: “Whether the employer acted in good faith is a factual issue.”  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, 280 P.2d 567, 575 (Alaska 2012) citing, Bailey v.  Texas instruments, Inc., 111 P.3d 321, 324 (Alaska 2005).
The second criterion required to impose a penalty under AS 23.30.155(e) is the compensation on which the penalty is based must be due and paid “late.”  Sumner v. Eagle Nest Hotel, 894 P.2d 628, 632 (Alaska 1995).

In Kinley’s Restaurant & Bar v. Gurnett, AWCAC decision No. 121 (November 24, 2009), the commission concluded and held:

The commission concludes that the board erred as a matter of law by weighing evidence in support of a controversion against evidence presented against it before determining if the controversion was valid.  The commission holds that a notice of controversion’s validity is assessed based on the evidence in the issuing adjuster’s possession at the time the controversion was mailed.  Therefore, a controversion based on the original physician opinion is not retroactively converted to a ‘bad faith’ controversion because later the opinion was withdrawn.  The commission concludes the board erred as a matter of law by assessing a penalty for nonpayment without a valid controversion retroactively to the date of the controversion (emphasis in original) (id. at 2).

AS 23.30.185. Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

“Once an employee is disabled, the law presumes that the employee’s disability continues until the employer produces substantial evidence to the contrary.”  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, 280 P.3d 567, 573 (Alaska 2012) citing Grove v. Alaska Constructors & Erectors, 948 P.2d 454, 458 (Alaska 1997).  In respect to “medical stability,” the Alaska Supreme Court in Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249 (Alaska 2007), discussed a Board finding of medical stability based primarily on two medical reports.  One opinion from November 2, 2000, contained the prediction the doctor did not “expect any major changes in the next 45 days. . . .”  The second report from early December indicated Ms. Thoeni’s knee was capable of improvement with a diligent exercise regime.  Id. at 1255-56.  In reversing this Board finding, the court noted the physician’s predictions the knee would not deteriorate, and exercise would result in improvement, “proved incorrect.”  By the time the board determined medical stability, it was aware these predictions were incorrect.  It also knew another knee surgery to improve the knee was recommended on January 25, 2001, by a third physician.

AS 23.30.187. Effect of unemployment benefits.  Compensation is not payable to an employee under AS 23.30.180 or 23.30.185 for a week in which the employee receives unemployment benefits.

In Alyeska Pipeline Services Co. v. DeShong, 77 P.3d 1227 (Alaska 2003), the Alaska Supreme Court reviewed this statute to determine “if it presents an absolute bar to receipt of TTD benefits by an injured worker who has already received unemployment benefits.”  DeShong, 77 P.3d at 1234.  The court discussed the legislative history behind §187 and found “concerns regarding double recovery, the receipt of workers’ compensation benefits by employees who have already reached medical stability, and the disincentive to return to work created by overpayment to injured workers.”  The court noted no evidence the “legislature intended receipt of unemployment benefits to permanently bar an injured employee from receiving workers’ compensation benefits when appropriate.”  Id. at 1237.  Given this analysis, the court concluded the board was correct in holding an injured worker, if otherwise eligible, could receive TTD after repaying unemployment insurance benefits:

Because we can discern no language, either in the statute itself or in the legislative history, that erects a permanent bar to the receipt of workers’ compensation benefits if unemployment benefits have been repaid, we affirm the holding of the board.  To hold otherwise would forever bar an unknowing and injured employee from receiving the workers’ compensation benefits to which she is otherwise entitled merely because she first applied for unemployment insurance.  The language of the statute does not require this result, nor do we believe such an outcome would be desirable (id.).
Valdespino v. Al Bean, AWCB Decision No. 12-0037 (February 29, 2012), awarded the employee TTD and ordered the employer to pay Employee some TTD and ordered it to pay the employee additional TTD “if he provides satisfactory proof he repaid . . . unemployment he received between March 7, 2010, and May 8, 2010.”  Id. at 10.  On the other hand, Gurnett v. Kinley’s Restaurant & Bar, AWCB Decision No. 08-0263 (December 31, 2008), ordered the employer to pay awarded TTD and ordered the claimant to “pay back the unemployment insurance benefits he received while he was not receiving workers’ compensation benefits, which, based on his testimony, he is already doing.”  Id. at 23.  Reversed on other grounds, Kinley’s Restaurant & Bar v. Gurnett, AWCAC Decision No. 121 (November 24, 2009).

AS 23.30.190.  Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides.  (a) In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee’s percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person.  The percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person is the percentage of impairment to the particular body part, system, or function converted to the percentage of impairment to the whole person as provided under (b) of this section.  The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041, but the compensation may not be discounted for any present value considerations.

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, except that an impairment rating may not be rounded to the next five percent.  The board shall adopt a supplementary recognized schedule for injuries that cannot be rated by use of the American Medical Association Guides.

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall be reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury.  If the combination of a prior impairment rating and a rating under (a) of this section would result in the employee being considered permanently totally disabled, the prior rating does not negate a finding of permanent total disability.

(d) When a new edition of the American Medical Association Guides described in (b) of this section is published, the board shall, not later than 90 days after the last day of the month in which the new edition is published, hold an open meeting under AS 44.62.310 to select the date on which the new edition will be used to make all determinations required under (b) of this section. The date selected by the board for using the new edition may not be later than 90 days after the last day of the month in which the new edition is published. After the meeting, the board shall issue a public notice announcing the date selected. The requirements of AS 44.62.010 - 44.62.300 do not apply to the selection or announcement of the date under this subsection.

In Egemo v. Egemo Construction Co., 998 P.2d 434 (Alaska 2000), Mr. Egemo, an employee of Egemo Construction Company, was injured in a work-related accident in 1967.  His left leg was put in a cast, but the tibia healed out of alignment, resulting in a varus deformity.  Mr. Egemo experienced snapping and pain in his left leg, for which he had surgery in 1968.  He received disability benefits while recovering.  Between 1968 and 1996, Mr. Egemo had back, knee, and leg problems, but did not file for medical or time-loss benefits, though he knew the carrier would have paid them.  In 1987, Mr. Egemo sought medical care for his knee and a physician documented a tibial nonunion.  In 1988, Mr. Egemo had knee surgery, took time off to recover and then returned to work.  In 1995, Mr. Egemo saw another doctor for gradually increasing ankle and foot pain, which the physician attributed to the varus deformity from the 1967 accident.  The doctor recommended surgery to straighten the left leg bones.  

In November 1997, Mr. Egemo filed a workers’ compensation claim seeking, among other things, time loss benefits for leg-related surgery, planned in the future.  In December 1997, the board decided Mr. Egemo was entitled to medical benefits for his leg, but denied his claim for temporary disability for the period he would be disabled as a result of the leg surgery, relying upon AS 23.30.105.  The board concluded Mr. Egemo’s disability claim was untimely, as more than two years had passed since he knew of the disability and its relation to employment.  In 1998, Mr. Egemo had left leg surgery to address the effects of his 1967 work-related injury and was disabled for a time thereafter.  Meanwhile, Mr. Egemo appealed the denial of disability benefits, and the superior court affirmed.

On appeal, Mr. Egemo argued the board erred as a matter of law in its TTD determination because he was not disabled until the 1998 surgery.  He argued for an employee to have a “ripe” disability claim, there must be both a medical condition and an earning impairment.  Id. at 438-39.  Mr. Egemo asserted he did not experience the combination of the two until the 1998 surgery.  The employer offered three responses: First, Mr. Egemo was disabled by his varus deformity prior to the surgery, beginning when he was told he needed the surgery.  Second, the board found Mr. Egemo was disabled in 1988 from the knee surgery.  Third, Mr. Egemo filed his claim before disablement, since he filed in 1996, even though the statute requires that he file “after disablement.”  The employer further argued Mr. Egemo’s “ripeness theory” should be rejected because it “revives a claim” every time a worker loses work time due to medical treatment.  The employer contended no state had adopted a rule restarting the statute of limitations each time the worker needs new medical treatment that causes him to miss work.  

Egemo stated: “We agree with Egemo’s theory of ripeness.”  Id. at 439.  The court, citing Jonathan v. Doyon Drilling, Inc., 890 P.2d 1121, 1123 (Alaska 1995), noted: “A ‘claim’ is a written pleading that is filed, and is distinct from the employee’s right to compensation.”  Id.  The court further noted Mr. Egemo filed his written pleading in October 1996, when he knew he would need surgery to correct his varus deformity.  He had not yet taken any time off from work for this surgery, as it took place in 1998.  Thus, the court reasoned “although he was aware of his impending disability in 1987, when a doctor first told him that he would someday need surgery, he was not actually disabled until he experienced the wage loss in 1998.”  Id.  The court further stated: “A claim is ripe only when it involves a work-related injury or illness that causes wage loss.  Only if the new medical treatment causes the wage loss is there a new claim, restarting the statute of limitations.”  In the same way medical claims are revived whenever there is new treatment, “disability claims related to the new treatment are revived.”  Id.  In response to the employer’s “restarting” argument, the court said “in Alaska, new medical treatment entitles a worker to restart the statute of limitations for medical benefits.  Egemo’s argument is the logical extension of that practice to disability benefits.”  Id. at 440.  Egemo held filing a claim prematurely “does not justify dismissal” of the claim, as the employer was not prejudiced or inconvenienced by knowing before surgery Mr. Egemo would have a disability claim.  Id.  In summary, Egemo stated:

In our view, when a claim for benefits is premature, it should be held in abeyance until it is timely, or it should be dismissed with notice that it may be refiled when it becomes timely (footnote omitted).  In the present case, it would have been appropriate for the Board either to hold Egemo’s claim in abeyance until the surgery took place or to notify him that his claim was premature so that he would know to refile it after the surgery.  Id. at 441.

In Stonebridge Hospitality Assoc. v. Settje, AWCAC Decision No. 153 (June 14, 2011), involving an unrepresented injured worker, the board concluded: 1) because Ms. Settje had not obtained a permanent partial impairment (PPI) rating from her own physician, her claim for PPI benefits was not ripe; and 2) any reemployment eligibility evaluation by the rehabilitation benefits administrator (RBA) would be contingent on the PPI rating.  Stonebridge appealed these rulings to the commission.  Settje vacated the board’s decision on the PPI issue and remanded to the board to resolve it, noting Ms. Settje’s claim included requests for PPI benefits and a reemployment benefits eligibility evaluation.  Id. at 2.  At several prehearing conferences, Ms. Settje reiterated her requests for PPI benefits and a reemployment benefits eligibility evaluation.  The board’s designee stated in a prehearing conference summary: “PPI -- Ms. Settje indicated she understood the concept of [a] PPI rating and indicated she would like to assert the right to PPI when and if a rating became appropriate.”  Employer’s EME concluded: “It is my professional opinion that Ms. Settje did not suffer a work-related injury on February 14, 2009.  Therefore, assignment of any impairment regarding a February 14, 2009, work event is not applicable.”  Id.  A second independent medical evaluation (SIME) opined Ms. Settje had not sustained any permanent impairment from the work injury.  Id. at 3.  The last Settje prehearing conference summary stated: “PPI -- there apparently is no rating but [Settje] believes there should be.”  At hearing, however, the employee presented no evidence of a PPI rating.  The board found the PPI claim was not ripe for adjudication, as the employee was as a matter of law entitled to a PPI rating from her doctor.  Settje held the PPI claim was ripe for decision.  It remanded so the board could adjudicate the PPI claim, “based on the record at the hearing on April 13, 2010,” and apply the presumption of compensability analysis to the evidence presented at that hearing.  Id. at 6.

AS 23.30.395.  Definitions.  In this chapter,

. . .

(16) ‘disability’ means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment;

. . .

(24) ‘injury’ means accidental injury or death arising out of and in the course of employment. . . .

. . .

(27) ‘medical stability’ means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence;

A disability is fully compensable even if stemming from a preexisting disease or infirmity, if a work-related accident “aggravated, accelerated or combined with the disease or infirmity” in producing the disability.  Hawkins v. Green Associated, 559 P.2d 118, 119 (Alaska 1977).  In the context of a preexisting condition, an employee must show the work injury “aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the death or disability for which compensation is sought.”  Thurston v. Guys With Tools, Inc., 217 P.3d 824, 828 (Alaska 2009) (citing Thornton v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966)).  In addition, aggravation of a preexisting condition may be found absent any specific traumatic event.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v.  Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528 (Alaska 1987) (citing Providence Washington Insurance v Bonner, 680 P.2d 96, 99 (Alaska 1984)).  For determining whether an underlying disease has been aggravated by a work injury, there is no distinction between worsening of the underlying disease process and worsening of symptoms.  Hester v. State, Public Employees’ Retirement Board, 817 P.2d 472, 476 (Alaska 1991).  

DeShong, 77 P.3d at 1232, addressed §185 in respect to “medical stability,” the rebuttal presumption, and “clear and convincing evidence.”  In DeShong, the employer argued no physician expected Ms. DeShong would experience objectively measurable improvement in her condition during the time in dispute, thus she had reached “medical stability.”  Although the employee’s treating physician had originally indicated surgery was a possibility, the employer asserted subsequent indications prevented the doctor from recommending surgery around August 1998, four months before the benefit period in dispute.  The board had found the treating doctor considered Ms. DeShong’s condition to be “medically stable” under former AS 23.30.395(21), now renumbered AS 23.30.395(27).  The board concluded Ms. DeShong was therefore required to show by clear and convincing evidence she was not medically stable.  But the board also found the treating physician recommended evaluation by a specialist and Ms. DeShong was reluctant to undergo surgery until she received the specialist’s recommendation.  Because Ms. DeShong therefore had a legitimate reason for delay, and because the surgery was ultimately successful, the board concluded clear and convincing evidence showed Ms. DeShong was not medically stable before the surgery and therefore was entitled to TTD benefits.  Id.

DeShong found the treating doctor consistently suggested surgery as an option or recommended Ms. DeShong obtain a second surgical opinion.  On several occasions, the physician suggested surgery or a second opinion from an orthopedist.  “Under these circumstances,” DeShong held: “there was substantial evidence to support the board’s finding that she had produced clear and convincing evidence that she was not medically stable.”  Id.

The employer also argued it was not responsible for any delay between the time surgery for Ms. DeShong was recommended and the time it occurred.  The employer argued the board improperly made the employer responsible for managing the employee’s medical care.  The board then unfairly penalized the employer by ordering TTD payments for the delay period, for the employer’s failure to properly manage the employee’s care.  DeShong rejected the employer’s notion and said the board’s decision simply noted a combination of the employer’s delay in providing a surgical evaluation and the surgery’s final outcome “produced clear and convincing evidence of no medical stability.”  Id. at 1233.  

In Gurnett v. Kinley’s Restaurant & Bar, AWCB Decision No. 08-0263 (December 31, 2008), the board addressed issues involving both “medical stability” and unemployment benefits and said:

As the claimant argues, the only evidence in the record the claimant was medically stable is the opinion of EME physician Williams in his April 30, 2008 EME report, and we do not rely on Dr. Williams’ opinion, as discussed above.  We find, based on the medical reports and testimony of doctors Tolbert, Rosen and Hadley, the claimant is not yet medically stable, and has been totally disabled from his employment at the time of injury starting from February 14, 2008 and ongoing.  We shall order the employer to pay the employee TTD benefits from February 14, 2008 and ongoing. . . .  The claimant shall pay back the unemployment insurance benefits he received while he was not receiving workers’ compensation benefits, which, based on his testimony, he is already doing (id. at 23).

8 AAC 45.050. Pleadings. . . .

. . .

(e) Amendments. A pleading may be amended at any time before award upon such terms as the board or its designee directs.  If the amendment arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set out or attempted to be set out in the original pleading, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading. . . . 
8 AAC 45.142.  Interest.  (a)  If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

(b) The employer shall pay the interest

(1) on late-paid time-loss compensation to the employee. . . .

. . .

(2) on late-paid medical benefits to 

(A) the employee . . . if the employee has paid the provider or the medical benefits; 

(B) to an insurer, trust, organization, or government agency, if the insurer, trust, organization, or government agency has paid the provider of the medical benefits; or 

(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

 The Alaska Supreme Court explained how interest is calculated and applied in workers’ compensation cases in several decisions.  See Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1994); Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Association, 860 P.2d 1184 (Alaska 1993).   

8 AAC 45.180.  Costs and attorney’s fees.

. . .


(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145(a) will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this or another state.  An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee; the attorney may submit an application for adjustment of claim or a petition.  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed. . . . .

 . . .

(d) The board will award a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) only to an attorney licensed to practice law under the laws of this or another state.

(1) A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended as well as the extent and character of the work performed. . . .  Failure by the attorney to file the request and affidavit in accordance with this paragraph is considered a waiver of the attorney’s right to recover a reasonable fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee under AS 23.30.145(a), if AS 23.30.145(a) is applicable to the claim, unless the board determines that good cause exists to excuse the failure to comply with this section.


(2) In awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney’s affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved. . . .

. . .

(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs. . . .

. . .

(14) fees for the services of a paralegal or law clerk. . . .

ANALYSIS

1) Did Employee suffer a compensable, right hip injury while employed by Employer?

This issue involves factual disputes to which the statutory presumption of compensability applies.  AS 23.30.120.  Without regard to credibility, Employee raises the presumption of compensability with his testimony, and Drs. Davidhizar, Ross and Silverman’s medical opinions.  It is undisputed Employee had a preexisting, degenerative osteoarthritic condition in his right hip before he began working for Employer; Employee had no right hip symptoms, disability, medical treatment, or restrictions prior to working for Employer, notwithstanding his pre-existing hip condition.  After he began working for Employer, performing heavy labor while standing and walking on concrete floors and lifting and moving heavy objects, Employee’s right hip hurt and eventually caused disability and required medical treatment.  The three, above-mentioned physicians agreed Employee’s work for Employer aggravated his preexisting osteoarthritis in his right hip to cause pain, disability and the need for medical treatment.  This evidence is adequate to make the preliminary link and cause the presumption to attach to Employee’s claim, as to causation and compensability.  Cheeks.  The burden of production shifts to Employer.  Wolfer.
As to causation and compensability, and without regard to credibility, Employer cannot rebut the statutory presumption with substantial evidence to the contrary.  The only evidence offered to the contrary is EME Dr. Radecki’s written reports.  In neither his July 1, 2011, nor his August 5, 2011 reports does Dr. Radecki opine Employee’s work for Employer was not the substantial cause of his “disability” beginning in July 2011.  Dr. Radecki does not address the appropriate questions head on, but instead states Employee’s work for Employer was not the substantial cause of preexisting osteoarthritis in his right hip, and therefore, Employee suffered no actual “injury.”  “The substantial cause” of Employee’s osteoarthritic “condition” in his right hip is not the question.  The question is did Employee’s disability or need for medical treatment for his right hip arise out of and in the course of his employment with Employer and was the employment the substantial cause of any disability and need for medical treatment?  Saari; 
AS 23.30.010(a).  Dr. Radecki concedes in his two reports that Employee’s work for Employer aggravated his pre-existing hip arthritis.  He appears to believe an aggravation of a pre-existing condition absent a traumatic event is not an “injury” under Alaska law.  He is incorrect in that regard as a matter of law.  Rogers & Babler; Hester.  

Because Dr. Radecki’s opinions address an incorrect legal theory of “injury,” his opinions do not address the required statutory test in AS 23.30.010 and cannot as a matter of law provide substantial evidence to rebut the raised presumption.  If Employer fails to rebut the presumption, Employee prevails on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.  Grainger.  Accordingly, Employee prevails on the causation and compensability issues.  He suffered a compensable, right hip injury which arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer.

Alternately, and assuming for argument’s sake Dr. Radecki’s opinion rebutted the presumption, the third step of the presumption analysis can be applied to this issue to see if Employee proves his causation and compensability claims by a preponderance of the evidence.  First, Employee is credible.  AS 22.30.122.  He credibly testified he never had right hip pain, treatment, symptoms, or disability prior to working for Employer.  His medical records corroborate his testimony.  They are devoid of pre-existing right hip pain, treatment, symptoms, or disability.

Second, his attending physicians also support his claim.  Drs. Ross and Davidhizar agree Employee suffered an acute aggravation or exacerbation of his pre-existing right hip condition while working for Employer.  Long hours on his feet on concrete floors, and lifting and moving extremely heavy objects caused Employee’s previously asymptomatic condition to become symptomatic.  His symptoms, though waxing and waning, have never resolved.  Their opinions are given greater weight than Dr. Radecki’s opinions because they make sense.  AS 23.30.122.

Third, SIME Dr. Silverman completely supports Employee’s causation theory.  She articulately explained how people with severe osteoarthritis in a hip joint may not have any symptoms.  Consequently, such a person would not seek treatment for the undeniable, but nonetheless asymptomatic, arthritic condition.  Accordingly, the pre-existing condition by itself is not the substantial cause of Employee’s need for treatment.  It is undisputed Employee had a pre-existing right hip condition before he worked for Employer, but needed no medical care for it and never had disability resulting from it.  As Dr. Silverman explained, long hours on concrete floors doing heavy work for Employer is the substantial cause of Employee’s pain.  His resulting pain is the cause of his need for treatment.  One normally does not treat a pre-existing but asymptomatic condition.  Without medical care for or disability from a work-related injury, there is no compensable event.  There need not be a traumatic event aggravating a pre-existing condition to cause a legally cognizable “injury.”  Rogers & Babler.  As Dr. Silverman explained, that is exactly what happened in this case.  Employee’s right hip became symptomatic because of his work for Employer.  The symptoms never resolved.  It is not simply serendipity that Employee’s arthritic condition became symptomatic while he was exerting himself doing heavy labor working for Employer.  It was a cause and effect relationship and the work for Employer was the substantial cause of the disability and need for medical treatment, according to Dr. Silverman.  Dr. Silverman is credible and impartial, her explanations are logical and her opinions are given the most weight.  AS 23.30.122.

Lastly, weighing the evidence, Dr. Radecki’s contrary opinion is not credible and is afforded very little weight.  AS 23.30.122.  According to his report, Dr. Radecki reviewed only three medical records before formulating his initial opinions.  Dr. Radecki did not address all the questions his client asked him, but rather, provided answers not relevant to the medical-legal inquiry.  Dr. Radecki focused on the substantial cause of the right hip “condition,” rather than on the substantial cause of Employee’s disability and need for medical care regarding his right hip.  As stated above, Dr. Radecki has an improper legal understanding of “injury” under Alaska law.  He believes there must be a traumatic event.  Nothing in the 2005 amendments to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act suggests the legislature intended to eliminate aggravations of preexisting conditions as “injuries.”  DeYonge.  Even Employer’s representative appears to acknowledge this, when he or she inquired of Dr. Radecki initially and for clarification of his initial opinion, and queried about “cumulative” injury, as discussed below.  Hawkins; Thurston.  Consequently, Dr. Radecki’s reports are given extremely little weight.  They are inadequate to overcome the significant weight given to the opinions of Drs. Ross, Davidhizar and particularly SIME Silverman on the causation and compensability issues.  

Taken as a whole and viewed in context, much of Dr. Radecki’s reports actually supports Employee’s case.  Dr. Radecki diagnosed severe osteoarthritic changes in the right hip.  In response to the question whether Employee’s work with Employer “is the substantial cause” of “that condition, disability, and need for treatment, either as the result of a specific incident or on a cumulative, non-specific basis,” Dr. Radecki addressed only one part of the question and said: “Mr. Ramondino’s work at The Sportsman’s Warehouse is not a substantial cause of his osteoarthritic changes in his right hip. . . .”  As discussed above, this partial response is not dispositive of the medical-legal question.  On the other hand, Dr. Radecki noted: “It is felt that it is possible that his many hours on his feet, which was somewhat special for him starting in April, since he had not done such activity for several years, this increased activity seems to have essentially brought out his preexisting conditions, making him notice them more significantly.”  This statement supports Employee’s case.  It would be enough evidence to make the statutory presumption of compensability attach to the causation and compensability question.  However, Dr. Radecki’s statement the work made Employee notice his pre-existing condition “more significantly,” is not supported by the evidence, as there is no evidence Employee had any noticeable symptoms from his pre-existing right hip condition before beginning his employment with Employer.  

Dr. Radecki further stated: “Preexisting conditions with prolonged activity certainly could be aggravated to the feeling of pain, and that seems to have been the case.”  This medical opinion comports with Dr. Silverman’s theory, is logical and supports Employee’s claim.  In further supporting Employee’s position, Dr. Radecki said: “So, the patient’s activities merely contributed only to making his preexisting conditions subjectively more symptomatic but did not cause the conditions”  Again, the law does not search for the substantial cause of an underlying condition.  The word “condition” does not even appear in the coverage statute.  AS 23.30.010.  The law seeks to determine the relative contribution of all causes of disability or need for medical treatment.  The law then requires a determination of which cause is the substantial cause of disability or need for medical treatment.  Only one substantial cause, of all possible causes, can be “the substantial cause” of disability or need for medical treatment. 

Possible substantial causes of Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment include: the pre-existing, osteoarthritic right hip condition; his normal aging process; genetics; a subtle, right hip injury from Employee’s reported ATV accident some 20 plus years ago; and his work for Employer.  Evaluating the relative contribution of these different causes discloses the following: Employee had a pre-existing right hip osteoarthritic condition, but he had no medically documented symptoms, treatment, disability, or right hip problems prior to working for Employer.  These facts tend to show the pre-existing right hip degenerative arthritis is not the substantial cause of disability or need for medical treatment because by definition he has had this condition for at least several years.  Employee did not need medical treatment, did not receive any medical treatment, and there is no evidence he even had symptoms much less disability from his right hip before he began working for Employer.  It would require a pure coincidence that this pre-existing degenerative condition would suddenly cause disability and the need for medical treatment on its own, in 2011, without any outside influence.  Drs. Ross, Silverman and to a large measure Radecki belie such a coincidence.  Each says the work for Employer aggravated the condition and caused symptoms, from which Employee became disabled, for which he sought treatment, and from which he has never recovered.  Similarly, Employee’s normal aging process in his right hip could be the substantial cause of his disability and need for medical treatment in 2011, but again, this would require a remarkable coincidence.  Regardless, Employee was indeed aging while he was working for Employer but Dr. Silverman’s opinions place greater cause and effect on the work rather than the passage of time.  As for genetics, there is no evidence Employee has a genetic predisposition to degenerative joint disease, which is borne out by the fact his opposite hip has only mild degenerative changes.  Logically, if genetics was the substantial cause in Employee’s disability and need for right hip medical treatment in 2011, one would think his left hip would be equally affected.  It is not.  Lastly, only Dr. Radecki suggests Employee’s osteoarthritic changes in his right hip may have been caused by a distant but subtle right hip injury during an ATV accident over 20 years ago.  No other evidence supports that theory and it fails to address the proper medical-legal question in any event, because Dr. Radecki does not say the ATV accident is the substantial cause of Employee’s current disability or need for right hip treatment.

By contrast, Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment for his right hip coincides temporally with his work for Employer.  As Employee was taking narcotics over a lengthy period prior to his employment with Employer, for a back problem, the gradual appearance of right hip symptoms while working for Employer under conditions known to aggravate arthritic joints logically connects Employee’s work for Employer with the onset of his right hip symptoms.  Employee’s right hip symptoms must have been dramatic enough to exceed the normal effect his low back pain medication would have on his ability to feel pain.  Drs. Davidhizar, Ross, Silverman, and even Radecki acknowledged time spent on Employee’s feet is what caused his previously asymptomatic right hip condition to become symptomatic and prompted him to seek medical care for his hip.  

Dr. Radecki subsequently tried to back away from that position, however.  Dr. Radecki also said: “There is no evidence that his conditions were aggravated to a point that treatment was necessary.”  Yet, Dr. Radecki opined if Employee says he has significant pain in his right hip, “he likely does,” because of objective x-ray evidence.  Accordingly, Dr. Radecki said “one would say get a job where you do not have to walk so much.”  Lastly, he opined: “This more likely than not is merely a case of where he grew older, developed osteoarthritic changes, but did not experience the discomforts of those osteoarthritic changes so much until he was in a position where he actually had to be on his feet more hours per day than previously when he was doing a job where he sat more. . . .”  Dr. Radecki’s opinions are inconsistent and confusing.  Accordingly, they are given very little weight.  AS 23.30.122.  

Even Employer’s representatives recognized the inconsistencies in Dr. Radecki’s report.  In a letter seeking clarification, Employer’s representative stated: 

Your report clearly states that Mr. Ramondino’s short period of work at Sportsman’s Warehouse was not a substantial cause of any of these pre-existing conditions.  However, in response to question number 2, you did state that Mr. Ramondino’s work activities made his preexisting conditions subjectively more symptomatic, but did not cause the preexisting condition.  My question to you is: Were the subjectively increased symptoms temporary or permanent?

Responding to this inquiry, Dr. Radecki said: “The patient’s work activities seem to have increased his symptomatology temporarily while he worked.”  And he noted: “Mr. Ramondino merely became more active, and with enough activity, preexisting conditions seemed to become symptomatic.”  In short, many of Dr. Radecki’s medical opinions show it was not the underlying condition that was the substantial cause of Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment.  Rather, his opinions demonstrate the work with Employer caused symptoms from Employee’s previously asymptomatic right hip condition and this employment was the substantial cause of Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment for his right hip.  Consequently, even after this decision applies the third step of the presumption analysis, Employee prevails by a preponderance of the evidence and his right hip injury arose out of and in the course of his employment, which employment was the substantial cause of his disability and need for medical treatment.  AS 23.30.010; AS 23.30.395(24).

2) Is Employee entitled to TTD benefits?

Employee seeks TTD from June 24, 2011, and continuing until he is either no longer disabled or is medically stable.  TTD requires “disability” and the lack of “medical stability.”  These issues involve factual disputes to which the statutory presumption of compensability applies.  
AS 23.30.120.  To raise the presumption he is entitled to TTD benefits, Employee must make a preliminary link showing he was disabled from June 24, 2011, because of his work-related injury, and was not medically stable during any time for which he seeks TTD.  Without regard to credibility, Employee raises the presumption of compensability on both components with his testimony, and medical opinions of Drs. Davidhizar, Ross and Silverman.  Cheeks.  Dr. Davidhizar removed Employee from work as a result of his right hip symptoms.  There is no evidence Employer provided Employee with continuing, appropriate light-duty work after his doctor imposed restrictions.  Employee testified he could no longer perform the work because of right hip pain.  Dr. Silverman stated Employee’s right hip was not improved fully, and he was not yet medically stable.  Drs. Silverman and Ross opined hip replacement surgery may improve Employee’s functionality.  Employee has not been employed since he resigned from Employer.  This is adequate evidence to cause the presumption to attach to Employee’s claim for TTD and shifts the burden of production to Employer.  Runstrom.
Employer relies upon Dr. Radecki’s reports.  Because Dr. Radecki’s opinions do not address the substantial cause of Employee’s “disability” as a result of his right hip, but addresses the substantial cause of his right hip “condition,” his opinions make this part of the presumption analysis difficult at best.  Employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation and not weighed against other evidence or assessed for credibility at this stage of the presumption analysis.  Wolfer.  Dr. Radecki’s initial EME report states Employee “is capable of doing his work as a Hunting Department Manager,” which implies Employee was, as of July 1, 2011, when Dr. Radecki saw him, capable of working and thus not “disabled.”  However, Dr. Radecki also says in the same paragraph Employee’s work requires “mostly walking and standing,” his arthritic hip “may or may not prevent him from walking for a significant amount of time,” and states “any restrictions” would result from “personal factors,” not a work “injury.”  He further says there are no “clear-cut” work restrictions relative to his hip “regardless of etiology” but concludes if Employee says he has significant right hip pain, which he does, “he likely does” based on x-ray evidence of severe arthritis in the right hip joint.  Dr. Radecki further concludes under these circumstances, one would say “get a job where you don’t have to walk so much.”  This disability opinion is internally inconsistent and confusing.  The last quoted sections appear to contradict the first.  Dr. Radecki is uncertain if Employee can return to his work as of July 1, 2011.  Where evidence offered to rebut the presumption is uncertain, the presumption operates to uphold the compensability of the claim.  Grainger.  As for the other TTD element, Dr. Radecki, though specifically asked by his client, does not offer an opinion as to the date of medical stability.

Viewed in isolation, Dr. Radecki’s reports do not address the required statutory test in AS 23.30.010, are uncertain as to Employee’s “disability,” and do not comment about “medical stability.”  Dr. Radecki’s opinions are therefore not as a matter of law substantial evidence to rebut the raised presumption.  If Employer fails to rebut the presumption, Employee prevails on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.  Grainger.  Accordingly, Employee prevails on the TTD question because he attached the presumption to both prongs of the TTD test -- disability and the lack of medical stability -- and Employer failed to rebut it with substantial evidence.  Sokolowski.

Alternately, and assuming for argument’s sake Dr. Radecki’s opinion rebutted the presumption, the third step in the presumption analysis can be applied to this TTD issue.  As to the “disability” prong, on June 11, 2011, Employee’s physician recommended only part time work effective June 13, 2011, “due to the severity of his hip pain” and said the “extended hours on concrete are directly related to the increase in pain he is experiencing.”  On June 15, 2011, Employee’s physician restricted his part-time work to three days a week, seven and one-half hours per day with four days off to recover between shifts.  On June 24, 2011, Employee’s physician removed him from work altogether.  On June 29, 2011, Employee’s attending physician released him to return to part time work effective July 9, 2011, with his previous restrictions in place.  There is no evidence Employer offered Employee light-duty, full- or part-time work after June 24, 2011.  Dr. Radecki opined if Employee says he has significant pain in his right hip, “he likely does,” because of the objective x-ray evidence.  Accordingly, “one would say get a job where you do not have to walk so much,” implying Employee’s work for Employer is not something he could do physically.  On or about July 16, 2011, Employee resigned because of the nature of his hip injury.  This evidence all tends to support Employee’s claim he is disabled as a result of his work for Employer.  Saxton.  At no time after Employee resigned did Employer advise him it had additional part-time hours available for him.  Employee has not been employed since June 24, 2011.  Therefore, he has been disabled as a result of his June 12, 2011 injury since June 24, 2011.  AS 23.30.395(16).  “Once an employee is disabled, the law presumes that the employee’s disability continues until the employer produces substantial evidence to the contrary.”  Runstrom.
Addressing the “medical stability” element, Dr. Silverman clearly and convincingly explained why Employee was not medically stable when she saw him on February 28, 2012.  Further treatment including a trial of physical therapy, and it that failed, a total hip replacement with adequate time for rehabilitation would allow significant improvement in his right hip pain and function.  She stated:

So I think there is room for him to have more -- more complete treatment and, then, hopefully, come back to being pain-free in the hip area. 

If Employee refused a course of physical therapy, in Dr. Silverman’s initial opinion, Employee would have been medically stable by September or October 2011.  However, given Dr. Davidhizar’s contrary opinion that physical therapy would only aggravate Employee’s right hip pain, Dr. Silverman conceded Employee’s initial decision to not attend physical therapy as Dr. Silverman recommended would be “simply following his attending doctor’s advice.”  Not attempting physical therapy, and proceeding directly to right hip replacement surgery, “is medically acceptable” but in Dr. Silverman’s opinion not the best decision.  Hibdon.  There was room for Employee to get better with physical therapy and, if physical therapy proved “inadequate,” with joint replacement in Dr. Silverman’s opinion.  Given these facts, Employee’s decision to follow his attending doctor’s advice and not immediately attempt physical therapy was reasonable under the circumstances of this case.  He has a right to follow his doctor’s advice without interference.  Hibdon.  Furthermore, as Employee’s doctor predicted, physical therapy made his symptoms worse.  Thus, Employer’s “failure to mitigate” argument fails.  All physicians addressing the issue predict Employee will improve with a total right hip replacement.  Based on Dr. Silverman’s opinion, and absent any contrary medical opinion, Employee has not been medically stable since June 24, 2011, and is not yet medically stable.  AS 23.30.395(27).

Thus, even if Dr. Radecki’s reports could be deemed adequate to rebut the statutory presumption of compensability, Employee would nevertheless prevail on his TTD claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  But the inquiry on this TTD issue does not end here.

This decision must also address Employee’s receipt of unemployment benefits for the nearly entire time for which he seeks TTD.  Compensation is not payable to Employee under 
AS 23.30.180 or 23.30.185 for a week in which Employee received unemployment benefits.  
AS 23.30.187.  Employee claims TTD under AS 23.30.185.  The Alaska Supreme Court found no evidence the “legislature intended receipt of unemployment benefits to permanently bar an injured employee from receiving workers’ compensation benefits when appropriate.”  Given this analysis, the court concluded a decision was correct in holding an injured worker, if otherwise eligible, could receive TTD after repaying unemployment insurance benefits.  DeShong.  DeShong could be read as requiring an injured worker to repay unemployment benefits first, before an employer had to pay him TTD.  But DeShong does not address the question of whether Employee can be awarded TTD and ordered to reimburse unemployment benefits from the TTD award, or if Employer can be ordered to pay a portion of Employee’s TTD benefits to unemployment as reimbursement and the balance to Employee.  DeShong simply affirmed the administrative decision before it, which had required the injured employee to make the reimbursement first.  

One recent decision ordered an employer to pay the injured employee TTD “if he provides satisfactory proof he repaid . . . unemployment. . . .”  Valdespino.  Another decision ordered an employer to pay TTD to the employee and ordered the claimant to “pay back the unemployment insurance benefits he received while he was not receiving workers’ compensation benefits, which, based on his testimony, he is already doing.”  Gurnett.  Neither of these decisions has been subject to appellate review on this issue, though Gurnett was reversed on other grounds.

Employee has not worked since June 23, 2011.  He has been on unemployment and extended unemployment since then at varying but very modest weekly rates.  These facts raise a concern Employee may not have adequate finds with which to repay unemployment benefits unless he gets TTD first, from which he can reimburse unemployment.  

As discussed below, Employee obtained unemployment because Employer controverted his right to benefits and his right hip symptoms rendered him disabled.  There is a good chance Employee may not be able to repay unemployment in his current financial state.  If not, Employer would reap a windfall because it would not have to pay TTD unless and until Employee reimbursed unemployment.  As he is still disabled and has been recommended for right hip replacement surgery, his financial situation is not likely to improve soon.  On the other hand, if Employer is simply ordered to pay Employee TTD and Employee is ordered to reimburse unemployment from these TTD benefits, there is no guarantee he will, in which case he will have been overpaid in contravention of AS 23.30.187.  The novel facts of this case require a novel result.

The record is unclear as to the exact amount Employee owes unemployment.  However, Employee can easily obtain this information from the unemployment division and provide it to Employer.  The Workers’ Compensation Division has a letter of agreement with unemployment to receive reimbursements in workers’ compensation cases.  Consequently, Employee’s TTD request will be granted from June 24, 2011 and continuing until he either is no longer disabled or reaches medically stability, with the following conditions: Employee will be directed to obtain evidence from unemployment showing the relevant weeks he received unemployment and the amounts, and will provide this to Employer.  Employer will be directed to calculate the appropriate amount owed to unemployment and deduct this amount from Employee’s TTD award, and will pay directly to unemployment the appropriate amount.  Employer will be directed to pay the balance of the TTD directly to Employee.  Employer will be directed to pay the TTD awarded in this decision, both to unemployment and to Employee within the time limits the Act prescribes, once Employee has provided adequate documentation from unemployment.

Though this is a novel remedy, it prevents a windfall to Employer; it also prevents Employee from obtaining excess payment in contravention of AS 23.30.187.  It is summary and simple.  AS 23.30.005(h).  This remedy is quick, efficient, fair, and results in predictable delivery of indemnity benefits to Employee, and appropriate reimbursement to unemployment at a reasonable cost to Employer.  AS 23.30.001.  It requires Employer to pay to the persons directly entitled to it, the TTD benefits awarded in this decision.  AS 23.30.155(a).  Unemployment gets reimbursed and Employee gets the TTD to which he is entitled.  This method considers and satisfies all applicable statutes in resolving this complicated issue.

3) Is Employee entitled to past medical expenses and an order requiring Employer to pay for right hip replacement surgery?

If Employee prevailed on the compensability of his right hip injury, Employer had no objection to the reasonableness, necessity, or work-relatedness of any of Employee’s past incurred medical bills, or out-of-pocket expenses, related to his right hip but reserved its right to have the bills audited under the medical fee schedule.  8 AAC 45.050(f); Bockness.  Thus, the presumption of compensability does not apply to this issue.  Employee adequately documented his out-of-pocket expenses as well as his unpaid medical bills related to his right hip.  As Employee has prevailed in his right hip claim, and since the parties do not dispute Employee’s past incurred or out-of-pocket medical expenses, Employer will be ordered to pay these medical bills as set forth in Findings of Fact 124 and 125, subject to auditing according to the medical fee schedule.

Employee’s request for an order requiring Employer to pay for right hip replacement surgery involves factual disputes to which the presumption of compensability applies.  Carter.  Without regard to credibility or evidentiary weight, Drs. Ross, Davidhizar, and Silverman all agreed total hip replacement surgery is a reasonable approach to treat Employee’s work-weighted injury, and is within the realm of medically acceptable options.  Bockness; Hibdon.  This evidence is adequate to attach the presumption to Employee’s claim for right hip replacement surgery at Employer’s expense.  Cheeks.  The burden of production shifts to Employer.  Koons.

The only evidence upon which Employer relies is Dr. Radecki’s EME opinion.  Though asked, Dr. Radecki did not answer the question of what additional medical treatment was reasonable for Employee’s right hip.  Wollaston.  Instead, Dr. Radecki focused on his incorrect opinion that Employee suffered no work-related injury and thus needed no medical care or treatment for “a work condition that is work caused.”  Accordingly, there is no evidence contrary to Employee’s attending physicians’ and Dr. Silverman’s opinions to rebut the presumption that total hip replacement is a necessary and reasonable medical treatment.  Runstrom.  Employee thus prevails on the raised but un-rebutted presumption, assuming total hip replacement is still a viable medical option.  Grainger.

Alternately, and assuming for argument’s sake Dr. Radecki’s opinion rebutted the presumption, the third step of the presumption analysis can be applied to this issue.  Employee’s attending physicians all agreed he needed a total hip replacement.  Dr. Silverman agreed, though it was not her first choice, a total hip replacement is within the realm of medically acceptable options.  Employee’s physicians and Dr. Silverman are all credible on this issue.  AS 23.30.122.  Furthermore, Employee’s attending physicians and Dr. Silverman all recommended a total hip replacement surgery within two years of Employee’s June 12, 2011 injury.  This decision has limited discretion to deny a request for medical treatment when physicians agree a particular treatment is reasonable and within the realm of medically excepted options to treat a work-related injury, within the first two years following the injury.  Hibdon.  Consequently, as objective and subjective evidence demonstrate the need and several physicians all recommend hip replacement as the appropriate treatment to address Employee’s work-related injury, Employer will be directed to pay for that surgery and related medical treatment, assuming Employee’s physicians still opine total right hip replacement surgery is reasonable and necessary at this time.  Summers; Saxton.

4) Is Employee entitled to a penalty?
An employer must either pay an injured worker benefits or timely controvert.  If an employer controverts an employee’s right to benefits, the controversion must be sufficiently supported by law or fact.  If the controversion is sufficiently supported by law or fact, it will protect an employer from imposition of a penalty.  If it is not, the employer has no protection.  The Alaska Supreme Court set forth a relatively simple method of determining whether a controversion notice will protect an employer from imposition of a penalty.  Harp addressed a decision denying a penalty under AS 23.30.155(e), the same provision at issue here.  In short, Harp said the test for whether a controversion notice is filed in bad faith is whether the evidence in the employer’s possession at the time of the controversion, standing alone, would warrant a decision finding the employee is not entitled to benefits.  If so, the controversion was made in “good faith” and protects the employer from a penalty.  If not, the controversion was filed in “bad faith” and is “therefore invalid.”  In such cases, “a penalty is therefore required” by AS 23.30.155(e).  

In the instant case, as discussed above, Dr. Radecki’s EME reports could not rebut the presumption of compensability as to causation and compensability or disability.  His reports did not address the proper legal standard and did not opine Employee’s work for Employer was not the substantial cause of his disability and need for medical treatment for his right hip.  Employer’s controversion said they did, but the reports did not address the proper medical-legal issue.  Instead, Dr. Radecki focused on the substantial cause of Employee’s underlying degenerative right hip condition, rather than addressing whether Employee’s employment with Employer was the substantial cause of his right-hip related disability.  AS 23.30.010(a).  Accordingly, the controversion of TTD based upon this EME opinion was not valid.  Irby.  Ordinarily, this controversion would be inadequate as a matter of fact and law to protect Employer from imposition of a penalty under AS 23.30.155(e).  Harp.

However, this case has peculiar facts.  Employee received unemployment benefits during nearly the entire time for which he seeks TTD benefits.  Thus, no TTD benefits were “due” until this decision awarded them, above.  As no TTD benefits are “due” until Employer reimburses unemployment for benefits received by deducting them from Employee’s TTD award, no penalty is awardable to Employee on TTD benefits awarded herein because they were not “due” until now.  Sumner.  Employer’s bad faith controversion, which prompted Employee to obtain unemployment, is another reason supporting the novel approach taken, above, in respect to Employee’s TTD award.  Employer’s TTD controversion was not made in good faith and was in fact made in bad faith because it was ineffective as a matter of fact and law to support denying Employee’s right to TTD benefits according to the Harp standard.  But, because he received unemployment benefits, which must be reimbursed as detailed above, no TTD benefits were “due,” and as none are currently due but unpaid, subject to the above-referenced conditions, no penalty may be awarded on them.  Sumner,  As Employee has not sought a finding of an unfair or frivolous controversion for purposes of AS 23.330.155(o), the inquiry as to a penalty on TTD benefits ends here.  Employee’s request for a penalty on TTD under AS 23.30.155(e) will be denied.

This decision must also address Employee’s claim for penalty as it applies to medical benefits.  Dr. Radecki’s July 1, 2011 report did not specifically state Employee’s work for Employer was not the substantial cause of the need for medical treatment, but rather simply stated he needed no medical treatment for any “work condition” that is “work caused.”  Again, the “condition” is not the important factor.  The focus of the medical-legal inquiry is whether the employment is the substantial cause of Employee’s need for medical treatment for his right hip.  AS 23.30.010(a).  However, Dr. Radecki’s August 5, 2011 addendum report specifically states Employee’s work for Employer was not the substantial cause of the need for any medical care.  Thus, this report dated August 5, 2011, only protects Employer from imposition of a penalty on medical bills incurred on or after that date.  It did not afford protection to Employer for medical bills incurred, due but unpaid prior to that date.  Harp.

The law requires any penalty awarded must be paid to the person entitled to it.  AS 23.30.155(e).  It is unclear from the record when the medical records at issue and the related bills were provided to Employer.  It is, therefore, unclear when payment of medical bills incurred for the right hip prior to August 5, 2011, was “due.”  The parties can determine this from their records.  Therefore, Employee or his unpaid medical providers as appropriate are entitled to a §155(e) penalty on medical benefits for his right hip that were unpaid but due prior to August 5, 2011, if any.  Employee’s claim for a §155(e) penalty on medical benefits for his right hip unpaid but due before August 5, 2011, if any, will be granted and Employer will be directed to pay the appropriate penalties to the appropriate party in accordance with the Act.  Employee’s claim for a §155(e) penalty on right-hip related medical care incurred after August 5, 2011, will be denied based on Dr. Radecki’s August 5, 2011 addendum.

5) Should Employer be ordered to pay Open Imaging’s bill?

The parties agreed Open Imaging’s medical bill was contingent upon Employee’s success on his causation and compensability claims.  8 AAC 45.050(f).  Employer had no objection to the reasonableness or necessity of Open Imaging’s services in this case, which total $567.  As Employee has prevailed on his causation and compensability claims, Employer will be directed to pay Open Imaging’s bill of $567 directly to Open Imaging.

6) Should this decision decide Employee’s PPI claim?

Employee contends his PPI claim is not ripe as he had not yet had recommended surgery and has not yet been rated.  He suggests his PPI claim was premature and seeks an order deferring it until after surgery and after an appropriate PPI rating.  Employer contends Employee’s PPI rating is ripe for decision and, as there is no PPI rating, the PPI claim should be denied.  Settje tends to support Employer’s position.  However, the Alaska Supreme Court trumps the commission, and Egemo supports Employee’s contention.  Egemo addressed a somewhat analogous situation in which an injured worker filed a pleading requesting certain benefits before he had surgery to correct a varus deformity.  The court stated when a claim for benefits is premature, it should be held in abeyance until it is timely, or it should be dismissed with notice that it may be refiled when it becomes timely.  In this instance, Employer has not demonstrated it has been prejudiced by Employee’s premature claim for PPI, brought before he has had surgery and before he has been rated by his own physician.  Furthermore, Employee amended his pleadings before decision to withdraw the PPI claim.  8 AAC 45.050(e).  Accordingly, Employee’s inchoate PPI claim will be held in abeyance until such time as he has right hip replacement surgery, is found medically stable once again, and is rated for PPI.

7) Should this decision decide Employee’s vocational rehabilitation claim?

Similarly, Employee contends his request for reemployment and retraining benefits is premature and not ripe because he has not yet had recommended surgery and has not been rated for PPI.  Employer contends Employee’s vocational reemployment claim is ripe for decision, and as there is no current PPI rating, the reemployment claim should be denied.  Again, Settje seems to support Employer’s position.  However, again, Egemo trumps the commission and supports Employee’s arguments.  Furthermore, Dr. Silverman opined there would be some PPI attributable to Employee’s right hip injury.  He has simply not been rated yet, and given this decision awarding Employee’s request for right hip replacement surgery at Employer’s expense, it would be inappropriate to rate Employee until after he has hip replacement surgery and is found medically stable.  Employee amended his pleadings before decision to withdraw the reemployment claim.  8 AAC 45.050(e).  Lastly, the rehabilitation benefits administrator has the first right under the law to determine whether Employee is entitled to an eligibility evaluation, and ultimately whether he is eligible for vocational reemployment benefits under the Act.  
AS 23.30.041(c)-(d).  Accordingly, Employee’s request for vocational reemployment benefits will be held in abeyance until after his right hip replacement surgery, and regardless of whether or not he has the surgery, will be referred to the rehabilitation benefits administrator for evaluation pursuant to the Act.

8) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees, costs, and interest?

Employee contends he is entitled to an award of reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.  Employer contends Employee should not prevail on any issues and consequently should be awarded no attorney’s fees and costs.  However, Employer raised no objections to Employee’s attorney’s hourly rates, total fees or total costs.  The primary issue in this hotly contested and complex case was whether Employee’s right hip was a compensable “injury” and whether he was entitled to an order for right total hip replacement surgery at Employer’s expense.  Employee was successful on the main issues.  To the extent Employee was not awarded the full amount of each type of benefit he requested, the time spent on the unsuccessful portions of his claims was minimal.  

As Employer controverted Employee’s claim and Employee has prevailed on all primary issues in this case, his attorney is entitled to an award of attorney fees.  AS 23.30.145(b); Harnish.  Employee’s attorneys and paralegals fee rates are reasonable and consistent with those charged by other attorneys and paralegals with similar experience representing injured workers in these claims.  Employee’s attorney is one of the most experienced workers’ compensation attorneys in the state.  This case was complicated by many novel legal issues and an abundance of medical opinions.  Consequently, given the considerable result in benefits to Employee as a result of his attorney’s efforts, his attorney will be awarded attorney and paralegal fees of $28,644.50 and litigation costs of $1,851.60.

Lastly, Employee is not entitled to interest on the awarded TTD, because it was not “due” until this decision awarded it, given Employee’s receipt of unemployment benefits, as discussed above.  However, Employee and his medical providers are entitled to an award of statutory interest on the value of out-of-pocket or unpaid medical benefits, unpaid when due, if any.  AS 23.30.155(p); Rawls.  Employer will be directed to pay interest directly to the appropriate parties.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1) Employee suffered a compensable, right hip injury while employed by Employer.

2) Employee is entitled to TTD benefits in accordance with this decision.

3) Employee is entitled to past medical expenses and an order requiring Employer to pay for right hip replacement surgery in accordance with this decision.

4) Employee is entitled to a penalty in accordance with this decision.
5) Employer will be ordered to pay Open Imaging’s bill.

6) This decision will not decide Employee’s PPI claim.

7) This decision will not decide Employee’s vocational rehabilitation claim.

8) Employee is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees, costs, and interest in accordance with this decision.

ORDER

1) Employee’s request for an order finding he suffered a compensable, right hip injury while employed by Employer is granted.

2) Employee’s request for an order awarding TTD from June 24, 2011, and continuing until he is no longer disabled or until he is medically stable is granted.

3) Employee is ordered to obtain evidence from unemployment showing the relevant weeks he received unemployment and the amounts, and is ordered to provide this to Employer.

4) Employer is ordered to calculate the appropriate amount owed to unemployment and deduct this amount from Employee’s TTD award.  Employer is ordered to pay directly to unemployment the appropriate amount, and to pay the balance of the TTD award to Employee.

5) Employer is to pay the TTD awarded in this decision, both to unemployment and to Employee within the time limits the Act prescribes, once Employee has provided adequate documentation from unemployment from which the reimbursement to unemployment can be calculated.

6) Employer is ordered to pay directly to the persons entitled to them, past medical benefits related to his right hip in accordance with this decision.

7) Employee’s request for an order requiring Employer to pay for right hip replacement surgery and related medical expenses is granted, if Employee’s physician still recommends it.

8) Employee’s request for a penalty on TTD awarded in this decision is denied.

9) Employee’s claim for §155(e) penalty on medical benefits for his right hip, incurred before August 5, 2011, and unpaid but due, is granted.  Employer is ordered to pay the appropriate penalties, if any, to the appropriate party in accordance with the Act.

10) Employee’s claim for a §155(e) penalty on right-hip related medical care incurred after August 5, 2011, is denied

11) Employer is ordered to pay Open Imaging’s bill directly to Open Imaging.

12) Employee’s claim for PPI and vocational reemployment benefits are held in abeyance in accordance with this decision.

13) Employer is ordered to pay Employee’s attorney attorney’s fees and costs in the sum of $28,644.50 and $1,851.60, respectively.  

14) Employer is ordered to pay Employee and his medical providers statutory interest on the value of out-of-pocket or unpaid medical benefits, unpaid when due, if any.

Dated in Anchorage, Alaska on December 20, 2012.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision and becomes effective when filed in the board’s office, unless it is appealed.  Any party in interest may file an appeal with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the date this decision is filed.  All parties before the board are parties to an appeal.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied because the board takes no action on reconsideration, whichever is earlier.

A party may appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from; 2) a statement of the grounds for the appeal; and 3) proof of service of the notice and statement of grounds for appeal upon the Director of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division and all parties.  Any party may cross-appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  Whether appealing or cross-appealing, parties must meet all requirements of 8 AAC 57.070.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of JESSE D. RAMONDINO Employee / applicant v. SPORTSMAN’S WAREHOUSE, INC., Employer; HARTFORD INS. CO. OF THE MIDWEST, insurer / defendants; Case No. 201108512; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, and served upon the parties on December 20, 2012.
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